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Capital Adequacy Framework 2018

INTRODUCTION
BACKGROUND:

Prior to 1988, there was no uniform international regulatory standard for setting bank capital
requirements. In 1988, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS)* developed the Capital
Accord, which is known as Basel I, to align the capital adequacy requirements applicable especially
to banks in G-10 countries. Basel | introduced two key concepts. First, it defined what banks could
hold as capital, as well as designating capital as Tier 1 or Tier 2 according to its loss-absorbing or
creditor-protecting characteristics. The second key concept introduced in Basel | was that capital
should be held by banks in relation to the risks that they face. The major risks faced by banks relate to
the assets held on balance sheet. Thus, Basel I calculated banks’ minimum capital requirements as a
percentage of assets, which are adjusted in accordance with their riskiness and assigning risk weights
to assets. Higher weights are assigned to riskier assets such as corporate loans, and lower weights are
assigned to less risky assets, such as exposures to government.

The BCBS released the "International Convergence of Capital Measurements and Capital Standards:
Revised Framework", popularly known as Basel 11, on June 26, 2004. This framework was updated in
November 2005 and a comprehensive version of the framework was issued in June 2006. Basel Il
builds significantly on Basel | by increasing the sensitivity of capital to key bank risks. In addition,
Basel Il recognizes that banks can face a multitude of risks, ranging from the traditional risks
associated with financial intermediation to the day-to-day risks of operating a business as well as the
risks associated with the ups and downs of the local and international economies. As a result, the
framework more explicitly associates capital requirements with the particular categories of major
risks that banks face.

The Basel Il capital framework also recognizes that large, usually internationally active banks have
already put in place sophisticated approaches to risk measurement and management based on
statistical inference rather than judgment alone. Thus, the framework allows banks, under certain
conditions, to use their own ‘internal’ models and techniques to measure the key risks that they face,
the probability of loss, and the capital required to meet those losses. In developing the new
framework, the Basel Committee incorporated many elements that help to promote a sound and
efficient financial system over and above the setting of minimum capital requirements. Keeping this
in mind, the Basel II framework incorporates three complementary ‘pillars’ that draw on the range of
approaches to help ensure that banks are adequately capitalized commensurate with their risk profile.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) released a comprehensive reform package
entitled “Basel III: A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems”
(known as Basel 11 capital regulations) in December 2010. Basel 11l reforms are the response of the
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) to improve the banking sector’s ability to absorb
shocks arising from financial and economic stress, whatever the source, thus reducing the risk of spill
over from the financial sector to the real economy. Basel Il reforms strengthen the bank-level i.e.

1

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision is a committee of banking supervisory authorities that was established by the

central bank governors of the Group of Ten countries in 1975. It consists of senior representatives of bank supervisory authorities
and central banks from Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, lItaly, Japan, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Spain, Sweden,
Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States. It usually meets at the Bank for International Settlements in Basel,
Switzerland where its permanent Secretariat is located.
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micro prudential regulation, with the intention to raise the resilience of individual banking institutions
in periods of stress. Besides, the reforms have a macro prudential focus also, addressing system wide
risks, which can build up across the banking sector, as well as the procyclical amplification of these
risks over time. These new global regulatory and supervisory standards mainly seek to raise the
quality and level of capital (Pillar 1) to ensure that banks are better able to absorb losses on both a
going concern and a gone concern basis, increase the risk coverage of the capital framework,
introduce leverage ratio to serve as a backstop to the risk-based capital measure, raise the standards
for the supervisory review process (Pillar 2) and public disclosures (Pillar 3) etc. The macro
prudential aspects of Basel 111 are largely enshrined in the capital buffers. Both buffers i.e. the capital
conservation buffer and the countercyclical buffer are intended to protect the banking sector from
periods of excess credit growth.

The recommendations of Basel Committee on Banking Supervision's (BCBS) on capital accord are
important guiding frameworks for the regulatory capital requirement to the banking industry all over
the world and Nepal is no exception. Realizing the significance of capital for ensuring the safety and
soundness of the banks and the banking system, at large, Nepal Rastra Bank (NRB) has developed
and enforced capital adequacy requirement based on international practices with an appropriate level
of customization based on domestic state of market developments.

With a view of adopting the international best practices, NRB has already issued the Basel Il
implementation action plan and expressed its intention to adopt the Basel 11l framework, albeit in a
simplified form. In line with the international development and thorough discussion with the
stakeholders, evaluation and assessment of impact studies at various phases, this framework has been
drafted. This framework provides the guidelines for the implementation of Basel Il framework in
Nepal. The Basel Il capital regulations continue to be based on three-mutually reinforcing Pillars,
viz. minimum capital requirements, supervisory review of capital adequacy, and market discipline of
the Basel Il capital adequacy framework.

OBJECTIVE:

The main objective of this framework is to develop the safe and sound financial system by way of
sufficient amount of qualitative capital and risk management practices. This framework is intended to
ensure that each bank maintains a level of capital which,

(M is adequate to protect its depositors and creditors.
(i) is commensurate with the risk associated activities and profile of the bank.
(iii) promotes public confidence in the banking system.

PRE-REQUISITES:

The effective implementation of this framework is dependent on various factors. Some such pre-
requisites are:

(i)  Implementation of Basel Core Principles for effective Banking Supervision.
(i)  Adoption of the sound practices for the management of Operational Risk.
(iii)  Formulation and adoption of comprehensive risk management policy.

(iv) Adherence to high degree of corporate governance.

RESPONSIBILITY:

The board of directors of each bank shall be responsible for establishing and maintaining, at all times,
an adequate level of capital. The capital standards herein are the minimum that is acceptable for
banks that are fundamentally sound, well managed, and have no material financial or operational
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weaknesses. Thus, banks are generally expected to operate above the limits prescribed by this
framework.

SCOPE OF APPLICATION:

This framework shall be applicable to all Infrastructure Development Banks licensed to conduct
banking business in Nepal under the Bank and Financial Institution Act, 2073.

This capital adequacy framework shall be applicable uniformly to all Infrastructure Development
Bankson a stand-alone basis and as well as on a consolidated basis, where the bank is member of a
consolidated banking group. For the purpose of capital adequacy, the consolidated bank means a
group of financial entities, parent or holding company of which a bank is a subsidiary. All banking
and other relevant financial activities (both regulated and unregulated) conducted within a group
including a bank shall be captured through consolidation. Thus, majority owned or controlled
financial entities should be fully consolidated. If any majority owned subsidiary institutions are not
consolidated for capital purposes, all equity and other regulatory capital investments in those entities
attributable to the group will be deducted and the assets and liabilities, as well as third party capital
investments in the subsidiary will be removed from the bank’s balance sheet for capital adequacy
purposes.

APPROACHES TO IMPLEMENTATION:

"International Convergence for Capital Measurements and Capital Standards: Revised Framework",
Basel Il under Pillar 1, provides three distinct approaches for computing capital requirements for
credit risk and three other approaches for computing capital requirements for operational risk. These
approaches for credit and operational risk are based on increasing risk sensitivity and allow banks to
select an approach that is most appropriate to the stage of development of banks’ operations.

The products and services offered by the Nepalese Banks are still largely conventional, in comparison
to other economies. Considering the starting phase of credit rating practice of Nepal, Standardized
Approach (SA) to measure credit risk while Basic Indicator Approach and an indigenous Net Open
Position Approach for measurement of Operational Risk and Market Risk is adopted respectively.
These approaches have been customized to deal with Nepalese financial and banking sector
development.

IMPLEMENTATION OF ADVANCED APPROACHES:

This framework prescribes the simplest of the available approaches at the initial phase with a vision
to move onto more complex and risk sensitive approaches as the market gradually gains maturity.
Banks willing to adopt advanced approaches, even for internal purposes, should obtain prior written
approval from Nepal Rastra Bank on providing evidence that they have the resources and the
capability to adopt the proposed approaches.

A bank will not be allowed to choose to revert to a simpler approach once it has been approved for a
more advanced approach without supervisory approval. However, if a supervisor determines that a
bank using a more advanced approach no longer meets the qualifying criteria for an advanced
approach, it may allow the bank to revert to a simpler approach for some or all of its operations, until
it meets the conditions specified by the supervisor for returning to a more advanced approach.

CAPITAL ADEQUACY REQUIREMENT

Capital ratios will be as follows:-

S.No. Regulatory Capital Percentage
1.  |Minimum Common Equity Capital Ratio 4.50
2.  |Capital Conservation Buffer 2.50
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3. |[Minimum common equity plus capital conservation buffer 7.00
4. |Minimum Tier 1 Capital 6.00
(Excluding conservation buffer)
5. [Minimum Total Capital 8.50
(Excluding conservation buffer)
Minimum Total Capital (including conservation buffer ) 11.00
Counter Cyclical Buffers 0-2.5
8.  |Leverage Ratio 3

REQUIREMENTS FOR CAPITAL FUNDS

DEFINITION OF CAPITAL.:
The qualifying regulatory capital shall consist of the sum of the following components:
a. Tier 1 Capital (Core Capital)
A. Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1)
B. Additional Tier 1 (AT1)
b. Tier 2 Capital (Supplementary Capital)
The detailed description of the components of regulatory capital and their elements are as follows:
I. Tier 1 Capital (Core Capital)

The key element of capital on which the main emphasis should be placed is Tier 1 (core) capital,
which is comprised of equity capital and disclosed reserves. This key element of capital is the basis
on which most market judgments of capital adequacy are made; and it has a crucial bearing on profit
margins and a bank's ability to compete.

The BCBS has therefore concluded that capital, for supervisory purposes, should be defined in two
tiers in a way, which will have the effect of requiring at least 50% of a bank's capital base to consist
of a core element comprised of equity capital and published reserves from post-tax retained earnings.

In order to rank as Tier 1, capital must be fully paid up, have no fixed servicing or dividend costs
attached to it and be freely available to absorb losses ahead of general creditors. Capital also needs to
have a very high degree of permanence if it is to be treated as Tier 1.

Tier 1 Capital shall consist of Common Equity Tier 1 Capital and Additional Tier 1 Capital and the
sum of these two capitals shall be total Tier 1 Capital.

A. Common Equity Tier 1Capital

Common Equity is recognized as the highest quality component of capital and is the primary form of
funding which ensures that a bank remains solvent. Common Equity Tier 1 Capital consists of the
sum of the following elements:

(i) Common shares issued by the bank that meet the criteria for classification as common
shares for regulatory purposes;

(i)  Stock surplus (share premium) resulting from the issue of instruments included in Common
Equity Tier 1,



(iii)
(iv)
v)

(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)
()

(xi)

Statutory General Reserve;
Retained Earnings available for distribution to shareholders;

Un-audited current year cumulative profit, after all provisions including staff bonus and
taxes. Where such provisions are not made, this amount shall not qualify as Common
Equity Tier 1 capital,

Capital Redemption Reserves created in lieu of redeemable instruments

Capital Adjustment reserves created in respect of increasing the capital base of the bank
Dividend Equalization Reserves;

Other free reserves if any

Any other type of instruments notified by NRB from time to time for inclusion in Common
Equity Tier 1 capital;and

Less: Regulatory adjustments / deductions applied in the calculation of Common Equity
Tier 1 capital.

Criteria for common shares issued by the bank for inclusion in Common Equity:

Common shares must meet the following criteria to be included in Common Equity Tier 1 Capital:

1.
2.
3.

All common shares should be voting shares.
Represent the most subordinate claim in liquidation of the bank.

Be entitled to a claim on the residual assets which is proportional to its share of paid up
capital, after all senior claims have been repaid in liquidation (i.e. has an unlimited and
variable claim, not a fixed or capped claim).

Principal is perpetual and never repaid outside of liquidation (except discretionary
repurchases / buy backs or other means of effectively reducing capital in a discretionary
manner with the prior approval of NRB which is allowable under relevant law as well as
guidelines, if any, issued by NRB in the matter).

The bank does nothing to create an expectation at issuance that the instrument will be
bought back, redeemed or cancelled nor do the statutory or contractual terms provide any
feature which might give rise to such an expectation.

Distributions are paid out of distributable items. The level of distributions is not in any way
tied or linked to the amount paid up at issuance and is not subject to a contractual cap
(except to the extent that a bank is unable to pay distributions that exceed the level of
distributable items). As regards ‘distributable items’, it is clarified that the dividend on
common shares will be paid out of the current year’s profit and retained earnings only.

There are no circumstances under which the distributions are obligatory. Non-payment is
therefore not an event of default.

Distributions are paid only after all legal and contractual obligations have been met and
payments on more senior capital instruments have been made. This means that there are no
preferential distributions, including in respect of other elements classified as the highest
quality issued capital.

It is the paid up capital that takes the first and proportionately greatest share of any losses
as they occur. Within the highest quality capital, each instrument absorbs losses on a going
concern basis proportionately and pari passu with all the others.



10. The paid up amount is classified as equity capital (i.e. not recognised as a liability) for
determining balance sheet insolvency.

11. The paid up amount is classified as equity under the relevant accounting standards.

12. It is directly issued and paid up and the bank cannot directly or indirectly have funded the
purchase of the instrument. Banks should also not extend loans against their own shares.

13. The paid up amount is neither secured nor covered by a guarantee of the issuer or related
entity nor subject to any other arrangement that legally or economically enhances the
seniority of the claim.

14. Paid up capital is only issued with the approval of the owners of the issuing bank, either
given directly by the owners or, if permitted by applicable law, given by the Board of
Directors or by other persons duly authorized by the owners.

15.  Paid up capitalis clearly and separately disclosed in the bank’s balance sheet.

B. Additional Tier 1Capital

Additional Tier 1 Capital mainly include the instruments either classified as equity under relevant
accounting standards but are not the common equity share and hence not includible in common
equity tier 1 or the instrument which are classified as liabilities under relevant accounting
standards, however it is includible in additional tier 1 capital. Under Basel |1l hon-common equity
elements to be included in Tier 1 capital should absorb losses while the bank remains a going
concern. Towards this end, one of the important criteria for Additional Tier 1 instruments is that
these instruments should have principal loss absorption through either (i) conversion into common
shares at an objective pre-specified trigger point or (ii) a write-down mechanism which allocates
losses to the instrument at a pre-specified trigger point. Banks should not issue Additional Tier 1
capital instruments to the retail investors.

Additional Tier 1 capital consists of the sum of the following elements:

(i)  Perpetual Non Cumulative Preference Share (PNCPS) and Perpetual Debt Instruments
(PDI) issued by the bank that meet the criteria for inclusion in Additional Tier 1 capital;

(i)  Stock surplus (share premium) resulting from the issue of PNCPS instruments included in
Additional Tier 1 capital; and

(iii) Less: Regulatory adjustments / deductions applied in the calculation of Additional Tier 1
capital.

Criteria for Instruments issued by the bank for inclusion in Additional Tier 1:

Perpetual Non Cumulative Preference Share (PNCPS) and Perpetual Debt Instruments
(PDD)issued by the bank must meet the following criteria to be included in Additional Tier 1
Capital:

1. The instruments should be issued by the Bank (i.e. not by any ‘Special Purpose Vehicle’ etc.
set up by the bank for this purpose)and fully paid up.

2. The claim of investors of the instruments shall be:
(A) In case of Perpetual Non Cumulative Preference Shares:
(i)  Superior to the claims of investors in equity shares; and

(i) Subordinated to the claims of PDIs, all Tier 2 regulatory capital
instruments, depositors and general creditors of the bank.
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(B) In case of Perpetual Debt Instruments:

(i) Superior to the claims of investors in equity shares and perpetual non-cumulative
preference shares;

(ii) Subordinated to the claims of depositors, general creditors and subordinated debt
of the bank;

The instruments should be neither secured nor covered by a guarantee of the issuer or related
entity or other arrangement that legally or economically enhances the seniority of the claim
vis-a-vis bank creditors

The instruments should be perpetual, i.e., there is no maturity date and there are no step-ups
or other incentives to redeem

The Instruments may be callable at the initiative of the issuer. This means that the
instruments shall not be issued with “Put Option”. However, banks may issue instruments
with a “Call Option” at a particular date subject to following conditions:

a) The call option on the instrument is permissible after ten years of issuance;
b)  To exercise a call option a bank must receive prior approval of NRB;

C) A bank must not do anything which creates an expectation that the call will be
exercised.; and

d)  Banks must not exercise a call unless:

i. The bank replaces the called instrument with capital of the same or better quality
and the replacement of this capital is done at conditions which are sustainable for
the income capacity of the bank; or

ii. The bank demonstrates that its capital position is well above the minimum capital
requirements after the call option is exercised.

Any repayment of principal (eg. through repurchase, buy-back or redemption) must be with
prior approval of NRB and banks should not assume or create market expectations that
supervisory approval will be given. Banks may repurchase / buy-back / redeem the
instruments only if:

(d) The bank replaces such instrument with capital of the same or better quality and the
replacement of this capital is done at conditions which are sustainable for the income
capacity of the bank; or

(b) The bank demonstrates that its capital position is well above the minimum capital
requirements after the repurchase / buy-back / redemption.

Dividend/coupon discretion:
a. the bank must have full discretion at all times to cancel distributions/payments;
b. cancellation of discretionary payments must not be an event of default;

¢. banks must have full access to cancelled payments to meet obligations as they fall due;
and

d. cancellation of distributions/payments must not impose restrictions on the bank except in
relation to distributions to common stockholders.

Dividends/coupons must be paid out of ‘distributable items’:

As regards ‘distributable items’, it is clarified that the dividend on perpetual non-cumulative
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

preference shares (PNCPS) will be paid out of current year’s profit only.

In case of coupon on perpetual debt instruments (PDI), it is clarified that if the payment of
coupons on perpetual debt instrument (PDI) is likely to result in losses in the current year,
their declaration should be precluded to that extent.

Dividend on PNCPS and coupons on PDI should not be paid out of retained earnings /
reserves. In other words, payment of dividend/coupons should not have the effect of reducing
retained earnings / reserves.

The instrument cannot have a credit sensitive dividend/coupon feature, that is a
dividend/coupon that is reset periodically based in whole or in part on the banking
organization's credit standing.

The dividend/coupon shall not be cumulative. i.e., dividend/coupon missed in a year will not
be paid in future years, even if adequate profit is available and the level of CAR conforms to
the regulatory minimum. When dividend/coupon is paid at a rate lesser than the prescribed
rate, the unpaid amount will not be paid in future years, even if adequate profit is available
and the level of CAR conforms to the regulatory minimum.

The instrument cannot contribute to liabilities exceeding assets if such a balance sheet test
forms part of requirement to prove insolvency by any law or otherwise.

Instruments classified as liabilities for accounting purposes must have principal loss
absorption through either (i) conversion to common shares at an objective pre-specified
trigger point or (ii) a write-down mechanism which allocates losses to the instrument at a pre-
specified trigger point. The write-down will have the following effects:

a. Reduce the claim of the instrument in liquidation;
b. Reduce the amount re-paid when a call is exercised; and
c. Partially or fully reduce coupon/dividend payments on the instrument.

Neither the bank nor a related party over which the bank exercises control or significant
influence(as defined under relevant Nepal Financial Reporting Standards) can have purchased
the instrument, nor can the bank directly or indirectly have funded the purchase of the
instrument

The instrument cannot have any features that hinder recapitalization, such as provisions that
require the issuer to compensate investors if a new instrument is issued at a lower price
during a specified time frame.

. Tier 2 (Supplementary) Capital

The Supplementary (Tier 2) Capital includes reserves whichhave been passed through the profit
and loss account and all other capital instruments eligible and acceptable for capital purposes.
Elements of the Tier 2 capital will be reckoned as capital funds up to a maximum of 100 percent
of Tier 1 capital arrived at, after making regulatory adjustments/deductions. In case, where the
Tier 1 capital of a bank is negative, the Tier 2 capital for regulatory purposes shall be considered
as zero and hence the capital fund, in such cases, shall be equal to the core capital.

The Tier 2 Capital consists of the sum of the following elements:

(i)

Preference Share Capital Instruments [Perpetual Cumulative Preference Shares (PCPS) /
Redeemable Non-Cumulative Preference Shares (RNCPS) / Redeemable Cumulative
Preference Shares (RCPS)] issued by the bank with the maturity of 5 years or above;
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

)

Subordinated term debt fully paid up with a maturity of 5 years or above; unsecured and
subordinated to the claim of other creditors, free of restrictive clauses and not redeemable
before maturity. Since, subordinated term debt is not normally available to participate in
the losses; the amount eligible for inclusion in the capital adequacy calculations is limited
to 50% of core capital. Moreover, to reflect the diminishing value of these instruments as a
continuing source of strength, a cumulative discount (amortization) factor of 20% per
annum shall be applied for capital adequacy computations, during the last 5 years to
maturity.

Hybrid capital instruments combine certain characteristics of debt and certain
characteristics of equity. Each such instrument has a particular feature, which can be
considered to affect its quality as capital. Where these instruments have close similarities to
equity, in particular when they are able to support losses on an ongoing basis without
triggering liquidation, they may be included in Tier 2 capital with approval from Nepal
Rastra Bank.

Stock surplus (share premium) resulting from the issue of instruments included in Tier 2
capital;

General loan loss provision limited to a maximum of 1.25% of total Credit Risk Weighted
Exposures. General loan loss provision refers to provisions or loan- loss reserves held
against future, presently unidentified losses are freely available to meet losses which
subsequently materialize and therefore the provisions created in respect of Performing
Loans only qualify for inclusion in Tier 2 Capital. Provisions ascribed to identify
deterioration of particular assets or loan liabilities, whether individual or grouped, should
be excluded. Accordingly, for instances provision on rescheduled/restructured and
classified loans, both an individual account and portfolio level shall be excluded. The
additional loan loss provisions created in respect of Personal Guarantee loans, third party
collateral loans and loans in excess of Single Obligor Limits are specific provisions and
hence cannot be included under this category. Such provisions however can be deducted
from the gross exposures while calculating risk weighted exposures for credit risk.

However, provisions created in excess of the regulatory requirements or provisions which
are not attributable to identifiable losses in any specific loans shall be allowed to be
included in the General Loan Loss Provision.

Exchange equalization reserves created by banks as a cushion for unexpected losses arising
out of adverse movements in foreign currencies.

Investment adjustment reserves created as a cushion for adverse price movements in banks’
investments falling under “Available for Sale” category.

Revaluation reserves often serve as a cushion against unexpected losses but may not be
fully available to absorb unexpected losses due to the subsequent deterioration in market
values and tax consequences of revaluation. Therefore, revaluation reserves will be eligible
up to 50% for treatment as Tier 2 capital and limited to a maximum of 2% of total Tier 2
capital subject to the condition that the reasonableness of the revalued amount is duly
certified by the internal auditor of the bank.

Any other type of instruments notified by NRB from time to time for inclusion in Tier 2
capital

Less: Regulatory adjustments / deductions applied in the calculation of Tier 2 capital.

Criteria for Instruments issued by the bank for inclusion in Tier 2 Capital:
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Preference Share Capital Instruments [Perpetual Cumulative Preference Shares (PCPS) /
Redeemable Non-Cumulative Preference Shares (RNCPS) / Redeemable Cumulative Preference
Shares (RCPS)], Subordinated Term Debt and Hybrid Capital Instrument issued by the bank must
meet the following criteria to be included in Tier 2 Capital:

1. The instruments should be issued by the Bank (i.e. not by any ‘Special Purpose Vehicle’ etc.
set up by the bank for this purpose) and fully paid up.

2. These instruments could be either perpetual or dated with a maturity period of minimum 5
years or more and there should be no step-ups or other incentives to redeem. The perpetual
instruments shall be cumulative. The dated instruments could be cumulative or non-
cumulative.

3. The dated instruments (both cumulative and non-cumulative) shall be subjected to a
progressive discount for capital adequacy purposes over the last five years of their tenor, as
they approach maturity as indicated in the table below for being eligible for inclusion in Tier
2 capital.

Remaining Maturity of Instruments Rate of Discount (%)
Less than one year 100
One year and more but less than two years 80
Two years and more but less than three years 60
Three years and more but less than four years 40
Four years and more but less than five years 20

4. Dividend/Coupon/Rate of Interest

(i)  The dividend/coupon payable to the investors may be either at a fixed rate or at a
floating rate referenced to a market determined rupee interest benchmark rate.

(i)  The instrument cannot have a credit sensitive coupon feature, i.e. a coupon that is
reset periodically based in whole or in part on the banks’ credit standing.

5. The claims of the investors in instruments shall be:
(i)  senior to the claims of investors in instruments eligible for inclusion in Tier 1 capital;
(if)  subordinate to the claims of all depositors and general creditors of the bank; and

(iii) Neither secured nor covered by a guarantee of the issuer or related entity or other
arrangement that legally or economically enhances the seniority of the claim vis-a-
vis bank creditors.

6. The instruments shall not be issued with “Put Option”. However, the Instruments may be
callable at the initiative of the issuer. Banks may issue instruments with a “Call Option” at a
particular date subject to the following conditions:

(i)  The call option on the instrument is permissible after five years of issuance;
(if)  To exercise a call option a bank must receive prior approval of NRB; and

(iii) A bank must not do anything which creates an expectation that the call will be
exercised; and

(iv) Banks must not exercise a call unless:
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(a) The bank replaces the called instrument with capital of the same or better
guality and the replacement of this capital is done on conditions which are
sustainable for the income capacity of the bank; or

(b) The bank demonstrates that its capital position is well above the minimum
capital requirements after the call option is exercised.

7. Treatment in Bankruptcy / Liquidation

The investor must have no rights to accelerate the repayment of future scheduled payments
(coupon or principal) except in bankruptcy and liquidation

8. Prohibition on Purchase / Funding of Instruments

Neither the bank nor a related party over which the bank exercises control or significant
influence (as defined under relevant Nepal Financial Reporting Standards) should purchase
the instrument, nor can the bank directly or indirectly should fund the purchase of the
instrument. Banks should also not grant advances against the security of the debt instruments
issued by them.

2.2 LOSS ABSORPTION OF ADDITIONAL TIER 1 INSTRUMENTS (AT1) AT THE PRE-
SPECIFIED TRIGGER

I.  Level of Pre-specified Trigger and Amount of Equity to be Created by Conversion / Write-
down

1. As abank’s capital conservation buffer falls to 0.625% of RWE, it will be subject to 100%
profit retention requirements. One of the important objectives of capital conservation buffer
is to ensure that a bank always operates above minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1)
level. Therefore, a pre-specified trigger for loss absorption through conversion / write-
down of the level of Additional Tier 1 (AT1) instruments (PNCPS and PDI) at CET1 of
5.125% of RWEs (minimum CET1 of 4.5% + 25% of capital conservation buffer of 2.5%
i.e. 0.625%) has been fixed.

2. The write-down / conversion must generate CET1 under applicable Nepal Financial
Reporting Standards equal to the written-down / converted amount net of tax, if any.

3. The aggregate amount to be written-down / converted for all such instruments on breaching
the trigger level must be at least the amount needed to immediately return the bank’s CET1
ratio to the trigger level or, if this is not sufficient, the full principal value of the
instruments. Further, the issuer should have full discretion to determine the amount of AT1
instruments to be converted/written-down subject to the amount of conversion/write-down
not exceeding the amount which would be required to bring the total Common Equity ratio
to 7% of RWESs (minimum CET1 of 4.5% + capital conservation buffer of 2.5%).

4. The conversion / write-down of AT1 instruments are primarily intended to replenish the
equity in the event it is depleted by losses. Therefore, banks should not use conversion /
write-down of AT1 instruments to support expansion of balance sheet by incurring further
obligations / booking assets. Accordingly, a bank whose total Common Equity ratio slips
below 7% due to losses and is still above 5.125% i.e. trigger point, should seek to expand
its balance sheet further only by raising fresh equity from its existing shareholders or
market and the internal accruals. However, fresh exposures can be taken to the extent of
amortization of the existing ones. If any expansion in exposures, such as due to drawdown
of sanctioned borrowing limits, is inevitable, this should be compensated within the
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shortest possible time by reducing other exposures. The bank should maintain proper
records to facilitate verification of these transactions by its internal auditors, statutory
auditors and supervisors.

I1. Types of Loss Absorption Features

5.

Banks may issue AT1 instruments with conversion / write-down features. Further, banks
may issue a single AT1 instrument having both conversion and write-down features with
the option for conversion or write-down to be exercised by the bank. Whichever option is
exercised, it should be exercised across all investors of a particular issue.

When a bank breaches the pre-specified trigger of loss absorbency of AT1 and the equity is
replenished either through conversion or write-down, such replenished amount of equity
will be excluded from the common equity tier 1 of the bank for the purpose of determining
the proportion of earnings to be paid out as dividend in terms of rules laid down for
maintaining capital conservation buffer. However, once the bank has attained a total
Common Equity ratio of 7% without counting the replenished equity capital, that point
onwards, the bank may include the replenished equity capital for all purposes.

The conversion / write-down may be allowed more than once in case a bank hits the pre-
specified trigger level subsequent to the first conversion / write-down which was partial.

I11. Treatment of AT1 Instruments in the event of Liquidation, Merger, Acquisitionof the Bank

8.

10.

11.

If a bank goes into liquidation before the ATL1 instruments have been written-down/
converted, these instruments will absorb losses in accordance with the order of seniority
indicated in the offer document, and legal provisions governing priority of charges. The
order of seniority indicated in the offer document should be in compliance with the
provision of Banking Act.

If a bank goes into liquidation after the AT1 instruments have been written-down, the
holders of these instruments will have no claim on the proceeds of liquidation.

If a bank is merged with/acquired by any other bank before the AT1 instruments have been
written-down/converted, these instruments will become part of the corresponding
categories of regulatory capital of the new bank emerging after the merger/acquisition.

If a bank is merged with any other bank after the non-equity regulatory capital instruments
have been written-down, these cannot be written-up by the merged entity.

IV. Fixation of Conversion Price, Capping of Number of Shares / Voting Rights

12.

13.

Banks may issue AT1 instruments with conversion features either based on price fixed at
the time of issuance or based on the market price prevailing at the time of conversion.

There will be a possibility of the debt holders receiving a large number of shares in the
event the share price is very low at the time of conversion. Thus, debt holders will end up
holding the number of shares and attached voting rights exceeding the legally permissible
limits. Banks should therefore, always keep sufficient headroom to accommodate the
additional equity due to conversion without breaching any of the statutory / regulatory
ceilings especially that for maximum shareholdings and maximum voting rights per
investors / group of related investors. In order to achieve this, banks should cap the number
of shares and / or voting rights in accordance with relevant laws and regulations on
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Ownership and Governance of banks. Banks should adequately incorporate these features
in the terms and conditions of the instruments in the offer document.

V. Order of Conversion / Write-down of Various Types of AT1 Instruments

14. The instruments should be converted / written-down in order in which they would absorb
losses in a gone concern situation. Banks should indicate in the offer document clearly the
order of conversion / write-down of the instrument in question vis-a-vis other capital
instruments which the bank has already issued or may issue in future.

2.3 DEDUCTIONS FROM CORE (TIER 1) CAPITAL:

Banks shall be required to deduct the following items from the CET 1 capital for capital adequacy
purposes. The claims that have been deducted from CET1 capital shall be exempted from risk weights
for the measurement of credit risk.

a.

@ -~ o o

Book value of goodwill and all other intangible assets.

Goodwill and all other intangible assets should be deducted from CET1 capital including any
goodwill included in the valuation of significant investments in the capital of banking, financial
and insurance entities which are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation.

The full amount of the intangible assets is to be a deducted net of any associated deferred tax
liabilities which would be extinguished if the intangible assets become impaired or
derecognized under the relevant accounting standards. For this purpose, the definition of
intangible assets would be in accordance with the Nepal Financial Reporting Standards.

Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred Tax Assets computed as under should be deducted from Common Equity Tier 1

(i) Deferred Tax Assets associated with the accumulated tax losses

(ii) Deferred Tax Assets other than associated with the accumulated tax losses, net of Deferred
Tax Liabilities, if any. Where the Deferred Tax Liabilities is in excess of the Deferred Tax
Assets (excluding Deferred Tax Assets associated with accumulated losses), the excess
shall neither be adjusted against item (i) nor added to CET1 capital.

Miscellaneous expenditure to the extent not written off. e.g. VRS expense, preliminary
expense, share issue expense, deferred revenue expenditure, etc.

Investment in Securities of financial institutions licensed by Nepal Rastra Bank®.
All Investments in equity of institutions with financial interest.
Investments in equity of institutions in excess of the prescribed limits.

Investments arising out of underwriting commitments that have not been disposed within a year
from the date of commitment.

Reciprocal crossholdings of bank capital artificially designed to inflate the capital position of
the bank.

Cash Flow Hedge Reserve

2

Investment in shares of institutions, where the waiver has been explicitly provided by NRB are subject to risk weight of 100%

and shall not be deducted from Tier 1 capital.
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The amount of the cash flow hedge reserve which relates to the hedging of items that are not
fair valued on the balance sheet (including projected cash flows) should be derecognized in the
calculation of CET1. This means that positive amounts should be deducted and negative
amounts should be added back. This treatment specifically identifies the element of the cash
flow hedge reserve that is to be derecognized for prudential purposes. It removes the element
that gives rise to artificial volatility in Common Equity, as in this case the reserve only reflects
one half of the picture (the fair value of the derivative, but not the changes in fair value of the
hedged future cash flow).

Defined Benefit Pension Fund Assets and Liabilities

Defined benefit pension fund liabilities, as included on the balance sheet, must be fully
recognized in the calculation of Common Equity Tier 1 capital (i.e. Common Equity Tier 1
capital cannot be increased through derecognizing or unrecognition of these liabilities). For
each defined benefit pension fund that is an asset on the balance sheet, the asset should be
deducted in the calculation of Common Equity Tier 1 net of any associated deferred tax liability
which would be extinguished if the asset should become impaired or derecognized under the
relevant accounting standards.

Any other instruments as stipulated by Nepal Rastra Bank, from time to time.

24 CAPITAL FUNDS:

The capital fund is the summation of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital and Tier 1 capital is the total of
common equity Tier 1 (CET1) and additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital. A bank should compute capital
ratios in the following manner:

Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio =

Tier 1 capital ratio =

Total Capital (CAR") =

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
Total Risk Weighted Exposure*
Eligible Tier 1 Capital

Total Risk Weighted Exposure
Eligible Total Capital

Total Risk Weighted Exposure

*Total Risk Weighted Exposure = RWE* on Credit Risk +RWE on Market Risk+ RWE on
Operational Risk + Supervisory Adjustment under Pillar |1

YRWE-= Risk weighted Exposure
* Capital Adequacy Ratio

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

Banks shall maintain a minimum total capital (MTC) of 8.5% of total risk weighted assets
(RWAS) i.e. capital to risk weighted assets (CRAR).

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital must be at least 4.5% of risk-weighted assets
(RWAS) i.e. for credit risk + market risk + operational risk on an ongoing basis.

Tier 1 capital must be at least 6% of RWAs on an ongoing basis. Thus, within the
minimum Tier 1 capital, Additional Tier 1 capital can be admitted maximum at 1.5% of
RWA:s.

Total Capital (Tier 1 Capital plus Tier 2 Capital) must be at least 8.5% of RWASs on an
ongoing basis. The sum total of the different components of the Tier 2 capitals will be
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limited to the sum total of the various components of the Tier 1 capital net of deductions as
specified in paragraph2.3. In case the Tier 1 capital is negative, Tier 2 capital shall be
considered to be "Nil" for regulatory capital adequacy purposes and hence, in such a
situation, the capital fund shall be equal to the Tier 1 capital.

(v) If a bank has complied with the minimum Common Equity Tier 1 and Tier 1 capital ratios,
then the excess Additional Tier 1 capital can be admitted for compliance with the minimum
CRAR of 8.5% of RWA:s.

(vi) In addition to the minimum Common Equity Tier 1 capital of 4.5% of RWAs, banks are

also required to maintain a capital conservation buffer (CCB) of 2.5% of RWAs in the form
of Common Equity Tier 1 capital.

For the purpose of all prudential exposure limits linked to capital funds, the ‘capital funds’
will exclude the applicable capital conservation buffer and countercyclical capital buffer as
and when activated, but include Additional Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital. It may be
noted that the term ‘Common Equity Tier 1 capital’ does not include capital conservation
buffer and countercyclical capital buffer.

2.5 CAPITAL CONSERVATION BUFFER
A. Objective

1. The capital conservation buffer (CCB) is designed to ensure that banks build up capital buffers
during normal times (i.e. outside periods of stress) which can be drawn down as losses are
incurred during a stressed period. The requirement is based on simple capital conservation rules
designed to avoid breaches of minimum capital requirements.

2. Outside the period of stress, banks should hold buffers of capital above the regulatory minimum.
When buffers have been drawn down, one way banks should look to rebuild them is through
reducing discretionary distributions of earnings. Banks may also choose to raise new capital from
the market as an alternative to conserving internally generated capital. However, if a bank decides
to make payments in excess of the constraints imposed as explained above, the bank, with the
prior approval of NRB, would have to use the option of raising capital from the market equal to
the amount above the constraint which it wishes to distribute.

3. The capital conservation buffer can be drawn down only when a bank faces a systemic or
idiosyncratic stress. A bank should not choose in normal times to operate in the buffer range
simply to compete with other banks and win market share. This aspect would be specifically
looked into by NRB during the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process. If, at any time, a
bank is found to have allowed its capital conservation buffer to fall in normal times, particularly
by increasing its risk weighted assets without a commensurate increase in the Common Equity
Tier 1 Ratio (although adhering to the restrictions on distributions), this would be viewed
seriously. In addition, such a bank will be required to bring the buffer to the desired level within a
time limit prescribed by NRB. The banks which draw down their capital conservation buffer
during a stressed period should also have a definite plan to replenish the buffer as part of its
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process and strive to bring the buffer to the desired level
within a time limit agreed to with NRB during the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process.

4. The framework of capital conservation buffer will strengthen the ability of banks to withstand
adverse economic environment conditions, will help increase banking sector resilience both going
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into a downturn, and provide the mechanism for rebuilding capital during the early stages of
economic recovery. Thus, by retaining a greater proportion of earnings during a downturn, banks
will be able to help ensure that capital remains available to support the ongoing business
operations / lending activities during the period of stress. Therefore, this framework is expected
to help reduce pro-cyclicality.

B. The Framework

5. Banks are required to maintain a capital conservation buffer of 2.5%, comprised of Common
Equity Tier 1 capital, above the regulatory minimum capital requirement of 8.50%. Banks should
not distribute capital (i.e. pay dividends or bonuses in any form) in case capital level falls within
this range. However, they will be able to conduct business as normal when their capital levels fall
into the conservation range as they experience losses. Therefore, the constraints imposed are
related to the distributions only and are not related to the operations of banks. The distribution
constraints imposed on banks when their capital levels fall into the range increase as the banks’
capital levels approach the minimum requirements. The Table below shows the minimum capital
conservation ratios a bank must meet at various levels of the Common Equity Tier 1 capital
ratios.

Minimum capital conservation standards for individual bank

Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio Minimum Capital Conservation Ratios
(expressed as a percentage of earnings)

4.5% - 5.125% 100%

>5.125% - 5.75% 80%

>5.75% - 6.375% 60%

>6.375% - 7.0% 40%

>7.0% 0%

For example, a bank with a Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio in the range of 5.125% to 5.75%
is required to conserve 80% of its earnings in the subsequent financial year (i.e. payout no more
than 20%).

6. The Common Equity Tier 1 ratio includes amounts used to meet the minimum Common Equity
Tier 1 capital requirement of 4.5%, but excludes any additional Common Equity Tier 1 needed to
meet the 7% Tier 1 and 8.5% Total Capital requirements. For example, a bank maintains
Common Equity Tier 1 capital of 8.5% and has no Additional Tier 1 or Tier 2 capital. Therefore,
the bank would meet all minimum capital requirements, but would have a zero conservation
buffer and therefore, the bank would be subjected to 100% constraint on distributions of capital
by way of dividends, share-buybacks and discretionary bonuses.

7. The following represents other key aspects of the capital conservation buffer requirements:

(i) Elements subject to the restriction on distributions: Dividends and share buybacks,
discretionary payments on other Tier 1 capital instruments and discretionary bonus
payments to staff would constitute items considered to be distributions. Payments which do
not result in depletion of Common Equity Tier 1 capital, (for example includes certain scrip
dividend) are not considered distributions.
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(ii) Definition of earnings: Earnings are defined as distributable profits before the deduction
of elements subject to the restriction on distributions mentioned at (i) above. Earnings are
calculated after the tax which would have been reported had none of the distributable items
been paid. As such, any tax impact of making such distributions are reversed out. If a bank
does not have positive earnings and has a Common Equity Tier 1 ratio less than 7%, it
should not make positive net distributions.

(iii) Additional supervisory discretion: Supervisors have the additional discretion to impose
time limits on banks operating within the buffer range on a case-by-case basis. In any case,
supervisors should ensure that the capital plans of banks seek to rebuild buffers over an
appropriate timeframe.

2.6  COUNTERCYCLICAL BUFFER

A. Introduction
1. Losses incurred in the banking sector can be extremely large when a downturn is preceded by a

period of excess credit growth. These losses can destabilize the banking sector and spark a
vicious circle, whereby problems in the financial system can contribute to a downturn in the real
economy that then feeds back on to the banking sector. These interactions highlight the particular
importance of the banking sector building up additional capital defenses in periods where the
risks of system-wide stress are growing markedly.

2. The countercyclical buffer aims to ensure that banking sector capital requirementstake account of
the macro-financial environment in which banks operate. The primary aim of the countercyclical
capital buffer requirement is to use a buffer of capital to achieve the broader macro prudential
goal of protecting the banking sector from periods of excess aggregate credit growth that have
often been associated with the build-up of system-wide risk.Protecting the banking sector in this
context is not simply ensuring that individual banks remain solvent through a period of stress, as
the minimum capital requirement and capital conservation buffer are together designed to fulfill
this objective. Rather, the aim is to ensure that the banking sector in aggregate has the capital on
hand to help maintain the flow of credit in the economy without its solvency being questioned,
when the broader financial system experiences stress after a period of excess credit growth.
Therefore, excess aggregate credit growth is judged to be associated witha build-up of system-
wide risk to ensure the banking system has a buffer of capital to protectit against future potential
losses.

3. The countercyclical buffer regime consists of the following elements:

a) Nepal Rastra Bank will monitor credit growth and other indicators that may signal a buildup
of system-wide risk and make assessments of whether credit growth is excessive and
isleading to the buildup of system-wide risk. Based on this assessment Nepal Rastra Bank
will put in place a countercyclical buffer requirement when circumstances warrant.
Thisrequirement will be released when system-wide risk crystallises or dissipates.

b) The countercyclical buffer requirement to which a bank is subject to extend the size of the
capital conservation buffer. Banks will be subject to restrictions on distributions if they do
not meet the requirement.

B. Countercyclical buffer requirements
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Nepal Rastra Bank has adopted the Credit to GDP ratio, macro-economic variable, as guide for
reference point for taking buffer decisions. Nepal Rastra Bank will monitor Credit to GDP ratio
at least annually and calculate Credit to GDP gap, i.e. the gap between Credit to GDP ratio and its
Trend. The intensity of Credit to GDP gap shall be the indication of the extent of thebuildup of
system-wide risk i.e. If the credit-to-GDP ratio is significantly above its trend (i.e. there is a large
positive gap) then this is an indication that credit may have grown to excessive levels relative to
GDP.The Credit to GDP gap shall be calculated as follows:

Creditto GDP Gap(t) = Credit to GDP Ratio(t) — Trend(t)

The countercyclical buffer requirement will vary between 0 and 2.5% of risk weighted assets,
depending on the extent of thebuild- up of system-wide risk. The credit to GDP gap of 5 points
shall be taken as cut off points of excess credit growth level. The increase by additional 1 point of
credit to GDP gap in excess of 5 point shall require buffer requirement of 0.5% i.e. each increase
in every one points in credit to GDP gap in excess of 5 points shall require to raise the buffer
requirement by each 0.5%. For this purpose trend is defined as average of credit to GDP ratio of
past 10 years. The following table shows the countercyclical buffer requirement in case of excess
credit growth:

Countercyclical Buffer Requirement

Credit to GDP Gap Buffer Requirement in Terms of CET 1
Up to 5 points 0%

5 to 6 points 0.5%

6 to 7 points 1.0%

7 to 8 points 1.5%

8 to 9 points 2.0%

above 9 points 2.5%

The banks are required to raise level of the buffer by up to 12 months, but shall be allowed to
decrease the level of the buffer with immediate effect.The bank, not being able to maintain the
countercyclical buffer requirement, shall not be allowed to distribute its earnings.

2.7 LEVERAGE RATIO
A. Rationale and Objective

One of the underlying features of the crisis was the build-up of excessive on-and off-balance
sheet leverage in the banking system. In many cases, banks built up excessive leverage while still
showing strong risk based capital ratios. During the most severe part of the crisis, the banking
sector was forced by the market to reduce its leverage in a manner that amplified downward
pressure on asset prices, further exacerbating the positive feedback loop between losses, declines
in bank capital, and contraction in credit availability. Therefore, under Basel IlI, a simple,
transparent, non-risk based leverage ratio has been introduced. The leverage ratio is calibrated to
act as a credible supplementary measure to the risk based capital requirements. The leverage ratio
is intended to achieve the following objectives:

a) constrain the build-up of leverage in the banking sector, helping avoid destabilising
deleveraging processes which can damage the broader financial system and the economy; and

b) reinforce the risk based requirements with a simple, non-risk based “backstop” measure.
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B. Definition and Calculation of the Leverage Ratio

a)
b)

Banks are required to maintain minimum leverage ratio of 3 percent of their total assets.
The leverage ratio shall be maintained on a quarterly basis, which is calculated as:

Leverage Ratio = Capital Measure
Exposure Measure

Capital Measure

a) The capital measure for the leverage ratio should be based on the definition of Tier 1
capital as set out in paragraph 2.1

b) Items that are deducted completely from capital do not contribute to leverage, and should
therefore also be deducted from the measure of exposure.

. Exposure Measure

The exposure measure for the leverage ratio should generally follow the accounting measure
of exposure. In order to measure the exposure consistently with financial accounts, the
following should be applied:

a) on-balance sheet, non-derivative exposures will be net of specific provisions and
valuation adjustments (e.g. prudent valuation adjustments for Available For Sale (AFS)
and Held For Trading (HFT) positions, credit valuation adjustments);

b) physical or financial collateral, guarantees or credit risk mitigation purchased is not
allowed to reduce on-balance sheet exposures; and

c) netting of loans and deposits is not allowed.

Component of Exposure Measure

(i)

(i)

On-Balance Sheet Items

Banks should include all items of assets reported in their accounting balance sheet for the
purposes of calculation of the leverage ratio. In addition, the exposure measure should
include the following treatments for Securities Financing Transactions (e.g. repo and reverse
repo agreements, CBLO) and derivatives.

Repurchase agreements and securities finance

Securities Financing Transactions (SFTs) are a form of secured funding and therefore, an
important source of balance sheet leverage that should be included in the leverage ratio.
Therefore, banks should calculate SFT for the purposes of the leverage ratio by applying:

(a) the accounting measure of exposure; and

(b) without netting various long and short positions with the same counterparty.

(iii) Derivatives

Derivatives create two types of exposure: an “on-balance sheet” present value reflecting the
fair value of the contract (often zero at outset but subsequently positive or negative depending
on the performance of the contract), and a notional economic exposure representing the
underlying economic interest of the contract. Banks should calculate exposure in respect of

<R



derivatives, including where a bank sells protection using a credit derivative, for the purposes
of the leverage ratio by applying:

(a) the accounting measure of exposure (positive Marked to Market (MTM) value) plus an
add-on for Potential Future Exposure (PFE) calculated according to the Current Exposure
Method; and

(b) without netting the MTM values and PFEs in respect of various long and short positions
with the same counterparty.

(iv) Other Off-Balance Sheet Items

Banks should calculate the off balance sheet items. These includecommitments (including
liquidity facilities), unconditionally cancellable commitments, directcredit substitutes,
acceptances, standby letters of credit, trade letters of credit, failedtransactions and unsettled
securities. The off balance sheet items are source of the potentially significant leverage.
Therefore, bank should calculate the above off balance sheet items for the purposes of the
leverage ratio by applying a uniform 100% credit conversion factor (CCF).

3. Credit Risk — The Standardized Approach

1. As per the standards developed by the BCBS Committee, NRB permits banks a choice between
two broad methodologies for calculating their capital requirements for credit risk. One
alternative, the Standardized Approach, will be to measure credit risk in a standardized manner,
supported by external credit assessments.®

2. The other alternative, the Internal Ratings-based Approach, which is subject to the explicit
approval of the bank’s supervisor, would allow banks to use their internal rating systems for
credit risk.

3. NRB prescribes the standardized approach for credit risk however, the banks could adopt the
advance approach, the Internal Rating-based Approach but they are not allowed to revert to a
simpler approach without approval of NRB.

4. The credit equivalent amount of Securities Financing Transactions (SFT)* and OTC derivatives
that expose a bank to counterparty credit risk®is not included in this section, which will be
updated in next revision. In determining the risk weights in the standardized approach, banks
may use assessments by external credit assessment institutions or external credit rating agencies
recognized as eligible for capital purposes by NRB in accordance with the criteria defined in
part B below. Exposures should be risk-weighted net of specific provisions.

3The banks follow the methodology used by one institution, ICRA Nepal’s, the use of ICRA Nepal’s credit ratings is an example only; those of
some other external credit assessment institutions could equally well be used. The ratings used throughout this document, therefore, do not express
any preferences or determinations on external assessment institutions by the NRB.

“Securities Financing Transactions (SFT) are transactions such as repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements, security
lending and borrowing, and margin lending transactions, where the value of the transactions depends on the market valuations and
the transactions are often subject to margin agreements.

SThe counterparty credit risk is defined as the risk that the counterparty to a transaction could default before the final settlement of
the transaction’s cash flows. An economic loss would occur if the transactions or portfolio of transactions with the counterparty has
a positive economic value at the time of default. Unlike a firm’s exposure to credit risk through a loan, where the exposure to credit
risk is unilateral and only the lending bank faces the risk of loss, the counterparty credit risk creates a bilateral risk of loss: the
market value of the transaction can be positive or negative to either counterparty to the transaction. The market value is uncertain
and can vary over time with the movement of underlying market factors.
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In order to be consistent with the Basel framework, the credit risk for the regulatory capital purpose shall be
computed by segregating the exposure in the following 9 categories

a)  Claims on government & central bank
b)  Claims on other official entities
¢) Claims on banks
d)  Claims on corporate & securities firms
e)  Claims secured by commercial real state
f)  Past due claims
g)  Higher-risk categories
h)  Other assets
i) Off balance sheet items

A. Individual claims

a. Claims on sovereigns

1. Claims on sovereigns and their central banks will be risk weighted as follows:

Credit AAA to A+ to A- BBB+ to BB+ Below B- Unrated
Assessment AA- BBB- to B-
Risk Weight 0% 20% 50% 100% 150% 100%

2. All claims on Government of Nepal and Nepal Rastra Bank could be risk weighed at 0 %.
3. Claims on the Bank for International Settlements, the International Monetary Fund, the European

Central Bank, and European Community may receive a 0% risk weight.

al. Claims on government public sector entities (PSEs)

4. Claims on domestic and foreign public sector entities will be risk-weighted as follows:

Credit AAA to A+ to A- BBB+ to BB+ Below B- Unrated
Assessment AA- BBB- to B-
Risk Weight 20% 50% 50% 100% 150% 100%

5. Furthermore, claims on domestic PSEs can be assigned risk weight of 0%, if strict lending rules apply to
these entities and a declaration of bankruptcy is not possible because of their special public status and

government or sovereign guarantee in case of default.

b. Claims on other official entities i.e. multilateral development banks (MDBs)

Two more categories i.e. claims on regulatory retail portfolio and claims secured by residential properties have been withdrawn.
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6. Multilateral Development Banks (MDBs)'will be eligible for a 0% risk weight.
7. The standard risk weight for claims on Multilateral Development Banks except above will be assigned
risk weights as per claims on foreign public sector entities.

c. Claims on banks

8. All claims, irrespective of currency and sovereign ownership, excluding investment in equity shares
and other instruments eligible for capital funds, on domestically incorporated banks and financial
institutions that have complied Capital Adequacy Requirements will be risk weighed at 20% while for
the rest, it will be 100%.Banks may use the publicly available information of the immediately
preceding quarter of the respective banks and financial institutions to acquire their status on capital
adequacy.

9. Claims on foreign banks shall be risk weighed as per credit assessment subject to the floor of 20%. The
primary basis for applying the credit assessment shall be the country of incorporation of the bank.

Credit AAA to A+ to A- BBB+ to BB+ Below B- Unrated
Assessment AA- BBB- to B-

Risk Weight 20% 50% 50% 100% 150% 100%
Risk  Weight | 20% 20% 20% 50% 150% 100%
for short- term

claims®

d. Claims on corporate and securities firms

10. Claims on securities firms may be treated as claims on banks provided these firms are subject to
supervisory and regulatory arrangements comparable to those under this Framework (including, in
particular, risk-based capital requirements).’ Otherwise such claims would follow the rules for claims
on corporate.

11. The table provided below illustrates the risk weighting of rated corporate claims, including claims in
insurance companies. The standard risk weight for unrated claims on corporate will be 100%. No claim
on an unrated corporate may be given a risk weight preferential to that assigned to its sovereign of
incorporation.

Credit Assessment AAA to AA- A+ to A- BBB+ to BB- Below BB- | Unrated

Risk Weight 20% 50% 100% 150% 100%

"World Bank Group comprised, of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) and the International
Finance Corporation (IFC), Asian Development Bank (ADB), Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AlIB), African Development
Bank (AfDB), European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD), Inter-American Development Bank (IADB),
European Investment Bank (EIB), European Investment Fund (EIF), Nordic Investment Bank (NIB), Caribbean Development Bank
(CDB), Islamic Development Bank (IDB), and Council of Europe Development Bank (CEDB).

8Short-term claims are defined as having an original maturity of three months or less. But claims with (contractual) original
maturity under the 3 months which are expected to be or practiced of rolled over (i.e. where the effective maturity is longer than 3
months) do not qualify for this preferential treatment for capital adequacy purposes.

*That is, capital requirements that are comparable to those applied to banks in this Framework. Implicit in the meaning of the word
“comparable” is that the securities firm (but not necessarily its parent) is subject to consolidated regulation and supervision with
respect to any downstream affiliates.
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12. As part of the supervisory review process, supervisor may also consider whether the credit quality of
corporate claims held by individual banks should warrant a standard risk weight higher than 150%.

13. Supervisor may increase the standard risk weight for unrated claims where they judge that a higher risk
weight is warranted by the overall default experience in banking system. As part of the supervisory
review process, supervisors may also consider whether the credit quality of corporate claims held by
individual banks should warrant a standard risk weight higher than 100%.

14. Banks are permitted to risk weight all corporate claims at 100% without regard to external ratings as
defined in paragraph 11. Supervisor should be ensured that banks apply a single consistent approach,
i.e. either to use ratings wherever available or not at all. To prevent “cherry-picking” of external
ratings, banks should obtain supervisory approval before utilising this option to risk weight all
corporate claims at 100%.

e. Claims secured by commercial real estate

15. In view of the experience in numerous countries that commercial property lending has been a recurring
cause of troubled assets in the banking industry. Over the past few decades, NRB hold to the view that
claims secured by mortgages on commercial real estate do not, in principle, justify other than a 100%
weighting of the loans secured.

16. Commercial real estate hereby refers to mortgage of office buildings, retail space, multi-purpose
commercial premises, multi-family residential buildings, multi-tenanted commercial premises,
industrial or warehouse space, hotels, land acquisition, development and construction etc.

f. Past due loans

17. The unsecured portion of any loan, which currently is or has been past due for more than 90 days at
any point of time during last two years, net of specific provisions, will be risk-weighted as follows:
o 150% risk weight when specific provisions are less than 50% of the outstanding amount of the loan;
e 100% risk weight when specific provisions are no less than 50% of the outstanding amount of the
loan;
18. For the purpose of defining the secured portion of the past due loan, eligible collateral and guarantees
will be the same as for credit risk mitigation purposes.

g. Higher-risk categories

19. The following claims will be risk weighted at 150% or higher:

Claims on sovereigns, PSEs, banks, and securities firms rated below B-.

Claims on corporates rated below BB-.

Past due loans except as set out in paragraph 17.

Investments in the equity and other capital instruments of institutions, which are not listed in the

stock exchange and have not been deducted from Tier 1 capital, shall be risk weighed at 150% net

of provisions.

e Investments in the equity and other capital instruments of institutions, which are listed in the stock
exchange and have not been deducted from Tier 1 capital, shall be risk weighed at 100% net of
provisions.

e Investments in mutual fund shall be risk weighted at 100%.

o Reflecting the higher risks associated with some other assets, such as venture capital and private
equity investments shall be applied 150% risk weight.

h. Other assets

20. The standard risk weight for all other assets will be 100%. Investments in equity or regulatory capital
instruments issued by banks or securities firms will be risk weighted at 100%, unless deducted from
the capital base according to point 2 of this framework.

21. Interest receivable/claim on government securities will be risk-weighted at 0%.
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22. Cash items in the process of collection can be risk-weighted at 20%.
i. Off-balance sheet items™
23. Off-balance sheet items will be converted into equivalent risk weight as follows:

Off Balance Sheet Exposure Risk
Weight

Any commitments those are unconditionally cancelable at any time by the bank 0%
without prior notice, or that effectively provide for automatic cancellation due to
deterioration in a borrower’s creditworthiness (for example bills under collection)

Forward exchange contracts. 10%

Short Term Trade-related contingencies 20%

Contingent liabilities arising from trade-related obligations, which are secured against
an underlying shipment of goods for both issuing and confirming bank and are short
term in nature. This includes documentary letters of credit, shipping guarantees issued
and any other trade-related contingencies with an original maturity up to six months.

Undertaking to provide a commitment on an off-balance sheet items 20%

Unsettled™ securities and foreign exchange transactions between bank to bank and 20%
between bank and customer

Long Term Trade-related contingencies 50%

Contingent liabilities arising from trade-related obligations, which are secured against
an underlying shipment of goods for both issuing and confirming bank and are long
term in nature. This includes documentary letters of credit, shipping guarantees issued
and any other trade-related contingencies with an original maturity of over six months.
In case the usance letter of credit is discounted, the risk weight shall be calculated on
net basis.

Performance-related contingencies 50%

Contingent liabilities, which involve an irrevocable obligation to pay a third party in
the event that counterparty fails to fulfill or perform a contractual non-monetary
obligation, such as delivery of goods by a specified date etc. This includes issue of
performance bonds, bid bonds, warranties, indemnities, underwriting commitments and
standby letters of credit in relation to a non-monetary obligation of counterparty under
a particular transaction.

Long term irrevocable Credit Commitments 50%

Any un-drawn portion of committed credit lines sanctioned for a period of more than 1
year. This shall include all unutilized limits in respect of revolving working capital
loans e.g. overdraft, cash credit, working capital loan etc. except for trade finance
exposures.

°Banks can use credit conversion factor as per standardized approach for assigning risk weights. In this document,
uniform credit conversion factors (CCF) as 100% is recommended.

11 An unsettled transaction is one where delivery of the instrument is due to take place against receipt of cash, but
which remain unsettled five business days after the due settlement date.
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Short term irrevocable Credit Commitments 20%

Any un-drawn portion of committed credit lines sanctioned for a period of upto 1 year.
This shall include all unutilized limits in respect of revolving working capital loans e.g.
overdraft, cash credit, working capital loan etc. except for trade finance exposures.

Repurchase agreements, securities lending, securities borrowing, reverse repurchase 100%
agreements and equivalent transactions

This includes sale and repurchase agreements and asset sales with recourse, where the
credit risk remains with the purchasing bank.

Direct credit substitutes 100%

Any irrevocable off-balance sheet obligations which carry the same credit risk as a
direct extension of credit, such as an undertaking to make a payment to a third party in
the event that a counterparty fails to meet a financial obligation or an undertaking to a
counterparty to acquire a potential claim on another party in the event of default by that
party, constitutes a direct credit substitute. This includes potential credit exposures
arising from the issue of financial guarantees and credit derivatives, confirmation of
letters of credit(acceptances and endorsements), issue of standby letters of credit
serving as financial guarantees for loans, securities and any other financial liabilities,
and bills endorsed under bill endorsement lines (but which are not accepted by, or have
the prior endorsement of, another bank).

Unpaid portion of partly paid shares and securities 100%
Unpaid Guarantee Claim 200%
Other Contingent Liabilities 100%

B. External credit assessment

1. The recognition process

24. External credit assessment institution (ECAI) should meet the criteria listed in the paragraph below.

The assessments of ECAIls may be recognized on a limited basis, e.g. by type of claims or by
jurisdiction. The supervisory process for recognizing ECAIls should be made public to avoid
unnecessary barriers to entry.

2. Eligibility criteria

25. An ECAI must satisfy each of the following six criteria.

Objectivity: The methodology for assigning credit assessments must be rigorous, systematic, and
subject to some form of validation based on historical experience. Moreover, assessments must be
subject to ongoing review and responsive to changes in financial condition. Before being recognized
by supervisors, an assessment methodology for each market segment, including rigorous back testing,
must have been established for at least one year and preferably three years.

Independence: An ECAI should be independent and should not be subject to political or economic
pressures that may influence the rating. The assessment will not be valid if there exist any kind of
conflict of interest in the assessment process.

International access/Transparency: The individual assessments should be available to both domestic
and foreign institutions with legitimate interests and at equivalent terms. In addition, the general
methodology used by the ECAI should be publicly available.

Disclosure: An ECAI should disclose the following information: its assessment methodologies,
including the definition of default, the time horizon, and the meaning of each rating; the actual default
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rates experienced in each assessment category; and the transitions of the assessments, e.g. the
likelihood of AA ratings becoming A over time.

Resources: An ECAI should have sufficient resources to carry out high quality credit assessments.
These resources should allow for substantial ongoing contact with senior and operational levels within
the entities assessed in order to add value to the credit assessments. Such assessments should be based
on methodologies combining qualitative and quantitative approaches.

Credibility: To some extent, credibility is derived from the criteria above. In addition, the reliance on
an ECAI’s external credit assessments by independent parties (investors, insurers, trading partners) is
evidence of the credibility of the assessments of an ECAIL The credibility of an ECAI is also
underpinned by the existence of internal procedures to prevent the misuse of confidential information.

C. Implementation considerations

1. The mapping process

26.

27.

28.

29.

Supervisors will be responsible for assigning eligible ECAIs’ assessments to the risk weights available
under the standardized risk weighting framework, i.e. deciding which assessment categories
correspond to which risk weights. The mapping process should be objective and should result in a risk
weight assignment consistent with that of the level of credit risk reflected in the tables above. It should
cover the full spectrum of risk weights.

When conducting such a mapping process, factors that supervisors should assess include, among
others, the size and scope of the pool of issuers that each ECAI covers, the range and meaning of the
assessments that it assigns, and the definition of default used by the ECAI. In order to promote a more
consistent mapping of assessments into the available risk weights and help supervisors in conducting
such a process, Annex 2 provides guidance as to how such a mapping process may be conducted.
Banks must use the chosen ECAIs and their ratings consistently for each type of claim, for both risk
weighting and risk management purposes. Banks will not be allowed to “cherry-pick” the assessments
provided by different ECAIS.

Banks must disclose ECAIs that they use for the risk weighting of their assets by type of claims, the
risk weights associated with the particular rating grades as determined by supervisors through the
mapping process as well as the aggregated risk-weighted assets for each risk weight based on the
assessments of each eligible ECAL.

2. Multiple assessments

30.

31.

32.

If there is only one assessment by an ECAI chosen by a bank for a particular claim, that assessment
should be used to determine the risk weight of the claim.

If there are two assessments by ECAIs chosen by a bank which map into different risk weights, the
higher risk weight will be applied.

If there are three or more assessments with different risk weights, the assessments corresponding to the
two lowest risk weights should be referred to and the higher of those two risk weights will be applied.

3. Issuer versus issues assessment

33.

Where a bank invests in a particular issue that has an issue-specific assessment, the risk weight of the
claim will be based on this assessment. Where the bank’s claim is not an investment in a specific
assessed issue, the following general principles apply.

e In circumstances where the borrower has a specific assessment for an issued debt — but the bank’s
claim is not an investment in this particular debt — a high quality credit assessment (one which
maps into a risk weight lower than that which applies to an unrated claim) on that specific debt may
only be applied to the bank’s unassessed claim if this claim ranks pari passu or senior to the claim
with an assessment in all respects. If not, the credit assessment cannot be used and the unassessed
claim will receive the risk weight for unrated claims.
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34.

35.

e In circumstances where the borrower has an issuer assessment, this assessment typically applies to

senior unsecured claims on that issuer. Consequently, only senior claims on that issuer will benefit
from a high quality issuer assessment. Other unassessed claims of a highly assessed issuer will be
treated as unrated. If either the issuer or a single issue has a low quality assessment (mapping into a
risk weight equal to or higher than that which applies to unrated claims), an unassessed claim on the
same counterparty will be assigned the same risk weight as is applicable to the low quality
assessment.

Whether the bank intends to rely on an issuer- or an issue-specific assessment, the assessment must

take into account and reflect the entire amount of credit risk exposure the bank has with regard to all

payments owed to it."?

In order to avoid any double counting of credit enhancement factors, no supervisory recognition of

credit risk mitigation techniques will be taken into account if the credit enhancement is already

reflected in the issue specific rating (see paragraph 49).

4. Domestic currency and foreign currency assessments

36.

Where unrated exposures are risk weighted based on the rating of an equivalent exposure to that
borrower, the general rule is that foreign currency ratings would be used for exposures in foreign
currency. Domestic currency ratings, if separate, would only be used to risk weight claims
denominated in the domestic currency.

5. Level of application of the assessment

37.

External assessments for one entity within a corporate group cannot be used to risk weight other
entities within the same group.

6. Unsolicited ratings®

38.

As a general rule, banks should use solicited ratings from eligible ECAIs. It is allowed banks to use
unsolicited ratings in the same way as solicited ratings. However, there may be the potential for ECAIls
to use unsolicited ratings to put pressure on entities to obtain solicited ratings. Such behaviour, when
identified, should cause supervisors to consider whether to continue recognising such ECAIs as
eligible for capital adequacy purposes.

D. The standardised approach — credit risk mitigation

1. Overarching issues

(i) Introduction

39.

40.

Banks use a number of techniques to mitigate the credit risks to which they are exposed. For example,
exposures may be collateralised by first priority claims, in whole or in part with cash, cash items or
securities, a loan exposure may be guaranteed by a third party, or a bank may buy a credit derivative to
offset various forms of credit risk. Additionally banks may agree to net loans owed to them against
deposits from the same counterparty.

Where these technigues meet the requirements for legal certainty as described in paragraph 46 and 47
below, the revised approach to CRM allows a wider range of credit risk mitigants to be recognised for
regulatory capital purposes.

(ii) General remarks

Lror example, if a bank is owed both principal and interest, the assessment must fully take into account and reflect the credit risk
associated with repayment of both principal and interest.

13Rating agency's assessment of a borrower's usually based only on publicly available information. The borrower neither involves
nor pays for assessment.
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41. The framework set out in this Section is applicable to the banking book exposures in the standardised
approach.

42. No transaction in which CRM techniques are used should receive a higher capital requirement than an
otherwise identical transaction where such techniques are not used.

43. The effects of CRM will not be double counted. Therefore, no additional supervisory recognition of
CRM for regulatory capital purposes will be granted on claims for which an issue-specific rating is
used that already reflects that CRM. As stated in paragraph 34 of the section on the standardised
approach, principal-only ratings will also not be allowed within the framework of CRM.

44. While the use of CRM techniques reduces or transfers credit risk, it simultaneously may increase other
risks (residual risks). Residual risks include legal, operational, liquidity and market risks. Therefore, it
is imperative that banks employ robust procedures and processes to control these risks, including
strategy; consideration of the underlying credit; valuation; policies and procedures; systems; control of
roll-off risks; and management of concentration risk arising from the bank’s use of CRM techniques
and its interaction with the bank’s overall credit risk profile. Where these risks are not adequately
controlled, supervisors may impose additional capital charges or take other supervisory actions as
outlined in Pillar 2 i.e. supervisory review process.

45. The Pillar 3 i.e. disclosure requirements must also be observed for banks to obtain capital relief in
respect of any CRM techniques.

(iii) Legal certainty

46. In order for banks to obtain capital relief for any use of CRM techniques, the following minimum
standards for legal documentation must be met.

47. All documentation used in collateralised transactions and for documenting on-balance sheet netting,
guarantees and credit derivatives must be binding on all parties and legally enforceable in all relevant
jurisdictions. Banks must have conducted sufficient legal review to verify this and have a well founded
legal basis to reach this conclusion, and undertake such further review as necessary to ensure
continuing enforceability.

2. Overview of Credit Risk Mitigation Techniques
(i) Collateralised transactions

48. A collateralised transaction is one in which:
o banks have a credit exposure or potential credit exposure; and
o that credit exposure or potential credit exposure is hedged in whole or in part by collateral posted
by a counterparty14 or by a third party on behalf of the counterparty.
49. Where banks take eligible financial collateral (e.g. cash or securities, more specifically defined in
paragraph 61), they are allowed to reduce their credit exposure to a counterparty when calculating their
capital requirements to take account of the risk mitigating effect of the collateral.

Overall framework and minimum conditions

50. Banks may opt for either the simple approach, which, similar to the 1988 Accord, substitutes the risk
weighting of the collateral for the risk weighting of the counterparty for the collateralized portion of
the exposure (generally subject to a 20% floor), or for the comprehensive approach, which allows
fuller offset of collateral against exposures, by effectively reducing the exposure amount by the value
ascribed to the collateral. Banks may operate under either, but not both, approaches in the banking
book, but only under the comprehensive approach in the trading book. Partial collateralization is
recognized in both approaches. Mismatches in the maturity of the underlying exposure and the
collateral will only be allowed under the comprehensive approach.
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51. However, before capital relief will be granted in respect of any form of collateral, the standards set out
below in paragraphs 52 to 55 must be met.

52. In addition to the general requirements for legal certainty set out in paragraphs 46 and 47, the legal
mechanism by which collateral is pledged or transferred must ensure that the bank has the right to
liquidate or take legal possession of it, in a timely manner, in the event of the default, insolvency or
bankruptcy (or one or more otherwise-defined credit events set out in the transaction documentation)
of the counterparty (and, where applicable, of the custodian holding the collateral). Furthermore banks
must take all steps necessary to fulfill those requirements under the law applicable to the bank’s
interest in the collateral for obtaining andmaintaining an enforceable security interest, e.g. by
registering it with a registrar, or for exercising a right to net or set off in relation to title transfer
collateral.

53. In order for collateral to provide protection, the credit quality of the counterparty and the value of the
collateral must not have a material positive correlation. For example, securities issued by the
counterparty — or by any related group entity — would provide little protection and so would be
ineligible.

54. Banks must have clear and robust procedures for the timely liquidation of collateral to ensure that any
legal conditions required for declaring the default of the counterparty and liquidating the collateral are
observed, and that collateral can be liquidated promptly.

55. Where the collateral is held by a custodian, banks must take reasonable steps to ensure that the
custodian segregates the collateral from its own assets.

(ii) On-balance sheet netting
56. Banks are not allowed netting arrangements for loans and deposits from on-balance sheet.
(iii) Guarantees and credit derivatives

57. Where guarantees or credit derivatives are direct, explicit, irrevocable and unconditional, and
supervisors are satisfied that banks fulfill certain minimum operational conditions relating to risk
management processes they may allow banks to take account of such credit protection in calculating
capital requirements.

58. Detailed operational requirements are given below in paragraphs 62 to 63.

(iv) Maturity mismatch

59. Where the residual maturity of the CRM is less than that of the underlying credit exposure a maturity
mismatch occurs. Where there is a maturity mismatch and the CRM has an original maturity of less
than one year, the CRM is not recognized for capital purposes.

(v) Currency mismatch

60. Where the credit protection is denominated in a currency different from that in which the exposure is
denominated — i.e. there is a currency mismatch — the amount of the exposure deemed to be
protected will be reduced by the application of a haircut. It shall be subject to supervisory haircut of
10%.

3. Collateral
61. The following collateral instruments are eligible for recognition in the simple approach:

(a)Cash (as well as certificates of deposit or comparable instruments issued by the lending bank) on deposit
with the bank which is incurring the counterparty exposure.**°

1% Cash funded credit linked notes issued by the bank against exposures in the banking book which fulfill the criteria for credit
derivatives will be treated as cash collateralized transactions.
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(b) Gold.
(c) Debt securities rated by a recognized external credit assessment institution where these are either:

o at least BB- when issued by sovereigns or PSEs that are treated as sovereigns by the Nepal rastra
bank; or

e at least BBB- when issued by other entities (including banks and securities firms).

(d) Debt securities not rated by a recognized external credit assessment institution where these are:

e issued by a bank; and

listed on a recognized exchange; and
o classified as senior debt; and

o all rated issues of the same seniority by the issuing bank must be rated at least BBB- by a
recognised external credit assessment institution; and

o the bank holding the securities as collateral has no information to suggest that the issue justifies a
rating below BBB-; and

o the supervisor is sufficiently confident about the market liquidity of the security.

(e) Equities (including convertible bonds) that are included in a main index.
() Undertakings for Collective Investments in Transferable Securities (UCITS) and mutual funds where:

e a price for the units is publicly quoted daily; and
e the UCITS/mutual fund is limited to investing in the instruments listed in this paragraph.*’

4. Guarantees and credit derivatives
(i) Operational requirements
Operational requirements common to guarantees and credit derivatives

62. A guarantee (counter-guarantee) or credit derivative must represent a direct claim on the protection
provider and must be explicitly referenced to specific exposures or a pool of exposures, so that the
extent of the cover is clearly defined and incontrovertible. Other than non-payment by a protection
purchaser of money due in respect of the credit protection contract it must be irrevocable; there must
be no clause in the contract that would allow the protection provider unilaterally to cancel the credit
cover or that would increase the effective cost of cover as a result of deteriorating credit quality in the
hedged exposure.18 It must also be unconditional; there should be no clause in the protection contract

8\When cash on deposit, certificates of deposit or comparable instruments issued by the lending bank are held as collateral at a
third-party bank in a non-custodial arrangement, if they are openly pledged/assigned to the lending bank and if the
pledge/assignment is unconditional and irrevocable, the exposure amount covered by the collateral (after any necessary haircuts for
currency risk) will receive the risk weight of the third-party bank.

" However, the use or potential use by a UCITS/mutual fund of derivative instruments solely to hedge investments
listed in this paragraph and paragraph 76 shall not prevent units in that UCITS/mutual fund from being eligible
financial collateral.

8Note that the irrevocability condition does not require that the credit protection and the exposure be maturity
matched; rather that the maturity agreed ex ante may not be reduced ex post by the protection provider.
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outside the direct control of the bank that could prevent the protection provider from being obliged to

pay out in a timely manner in the event that the original counterparty fails to make the payment(s) due.

Additional operational requirements for guarantees

63.

In addition to the legal certainty requirements in paragraphs 46 and 47 above, in order for a guarantee

to be recognized, the following conditions must be satisfied:

(@) On the qualifying default/non-payment of the counterparty, the bank may in a timely manner
pursue the guarantor for any monies outstanding under the documentation governing the
transaction. The guarantor may make one lump sum payment of all monies under such
documentation to the bank, or the guarantor may assume the future payment obligations of the
counterparty covered by the guarantee. The bank must have the right to receive any such payments
from the guarantor without first having to take legal actions in order to pursue the counterparty for
payment.

(b) The guarantee is an explicitly documented obligation assumed by the guarantor.

(c) Except as noted in the following sentence, the guarantee covers all types of payments the
underlying obligor is expected to make under the documentation governing the transaction, for
example notional amount, margin payments etc. Where a guarantee covers payment of principal
only, interests and other uncovered payments should be treated as an unsecured amount in
accordance with paragraph 68.

(ii) Range of eligible guarantors (counter-guarantors)/protection providers

64. Credit protection given by the following entities will be recognized:

sovereign entities, 19 PSEs, banks20 and securities firms with a lower risk weight than the
counterparty;

other entities rated A- or better. This would include credit protection provided by parent, subsidiary
and affiliate companies when they have a lower risk weight than the obligor.

(iii) Risk weights

65. The protected portion is assigned the risk weight of the protection provider. The uncovered portion of
the exposure is assigned the risk weight of the underlying counterparty.

66. Materiality thresholds on payments below which no payment is made in the event of loss are

equivalent to retained first loss positions and must be deducted in full from the capital of the bank
purchasing the credit protection.

Proportional cover

67. Where the amount guaranteed, or against which credit protection is held, is less than the amount of the
exposure, and the secured and unsecured portions are of equal seniority, i.e. the bank and the guarantor
share losses on a pro-rata basis capital relief will be afforded on a proportional basis: i.e. the protected
portion of the exposure will receive the treatment applicable to eligible guarantees/credit derivatives,
with the remainder treated as unsecured.

(iv) Sovereign guarantees and counter-guarantees

19 This includes the Bank for International Settlements, the International Monetary Fund, the European Central Bank and the
European Community, as well as those MDBs referred to in footnote 6.

20 This includes other MDBs.
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68.

Supervisor may extend this treatment to portions of claims guaranteed by the sovereign (or central
bank), where the guarantee is denominated in the domestic currency and the exposure is funded in that
currency. A claim may be covered by a guarantee that is indirectly counter-guaranteed by a sovereign.

Such a claim may be treated as covered by a sovereign guarantee provided that:

(a) the sovereign counter-guarantee covers all credit risk elements of the claim;

(b) both the original guarantee and the counter-guarantee meet all operational requirements for
guarantees, except that the counter-guarantee need not be direct and explicit to the original claim; and

(c) the supervisor is satisfied that the cover is robust and that no historical evidence suggests that the
coverage of the counter-guarantee is less than effectively equivalent to that of a direct sovereign

guarantee.

5. Other items related to the treatment of CRM techniques

(i) Treatment of pools of CRM techniques

69.

In the case where a bank has multiple CRM techniques covering a single exposure (e.g. a bank has
both collateral and guarantee partially covering an exposure), the bank will be required to subdivide
the exposure into portions covered by each type of CRM technique (e.g. portion covered by collateral,
portion covered by guarantee) and the risk-weighted assets of each portion must be calculated
separately. When credit protection provided by a single protection provider has differing maturities,
they must be subdivided into separate protection as well.

6. Methodology for using CRM
Step 1: Identify the accounts eligible for capital relief under credit risk mitigation.

Step 2: Assess the value of the exposure and the eligible collateral.

Step 3: Adjust the value of the eligible collateral in respect of the supervisory haircut in terms of currency

mismatch and other eligibility requirements.

Step 4: Compare the adjusted value of the collateral with the outstanding exposure.

Step 5: The value of the eligible CRM is the lower of the adjusted value of the collateral and the

outstanding exposure.

Step 6: Plot the eligible CRM in the appropriate category of credit risk.

The sum total of net amount of eligible CRM as per “Form No.4 Exhibit of claims with eligible credit risk
mitigants” shall be consistent with the “Form No.3 Eligible Credit Risk Mitigants” prescribed in this
framework.

OPERATIONAL RISK
GENERAL:

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate internal processes, people, and systems,
or from external events. Operational risk itself is not a new concept, and well run banks have been
addressing it in their internal controls and corporate governance structures. Basel Il requires banks to
hold capital against the risk of unexpected loss that could arise from the failure of operational
systems.

The most important types of operational risk involve breakdowns in internal controls and corporate
governance. Such breakdowns can lead to financial losses through error, fraud, or failure to perform
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4.2

4.3

in a timely manner or cause the interests of the bank to be compromised in some other way, for
example, by its dealers, lending officers or other staff exceeding their authority or conducting
business in an unethical or risky manner. Other aspects of operational risk include major failure of
information technology systems or events such as major fires or other disasters.

BASIC INDICATOR APPROACH:

Under the basic indicator approach, banks must hold capital for operational risk equal to the average
over the previous three years of a fixed percentage (denoted alpha) of positive annual gross income.

The capital charge for operational risk may be expressed as follows:

Keia = [2(GlinX [ all )N

where:
Kgia = capital charge under the Basic Indicator Approach
Gl = annual gross income, where positive, over the previous three years
N = number of the previous three years for which gross income is positive
o = 15 percent.

NRB shall review the capital requirement produced by this approach for general credibility,
especially in relation to a bank's peers and in the event that credibility is lacking, appropriate
supervisory action under Review Process shall be considered.

Figures for the year, in which annual gross income is negative or zero, should be excluded from both
the numerator and denominator while calculating the average. In case where the gross income for all
of the last three years is negative, 5% of total credit and investments net of specific provisions shall
be considered as the capital charge for operational risk. For this purpose investments shall comprise
of money at call, placements, investment in government securities and other investments irrespective
of currency.

Similarly, in case of new banks which have not completed a year of operation and whose average
gross income cannot be measured reliably, they shall also be required to compute their capital charge
for operational risk vide the same approach as prescribed for banks with negative gross income.
These banks may use the gross income approach from the second year onwards. But, based on the
reasonableness of the so computed capital charge for Operation Risk, during the first three years of
operation, review process may require additional proportion of capital charge if deemed necessary.

GROSS INCOME:

Gross income is defined as "net Interest Income™ plus "non interest income". It is intended that this
measure should:

a. be gross of any provisions (e.g. for unpaid interest) and write-offs made during the year;

b.  be gross of operating expenses, exclude reversal during the year in respect of provisions and
write-offs made during the previous year(s);

c.  exclude income/gain recognized from the disposal of items of movable and immovable
property;

d.  exclude realized profits/losses from the sale of securities in the “held to maturity” category;,

e.  exclude other extraordinary or irregular items of income and expenditure

Thus, for the purpose of capital adequacy requirements, gross income shall be summation of:
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5.2

a.  Total operating income as disclosed in Profit and Loss account prepared as per NRB directive
no.4. The total operating income comprises of:

1. Net Interest Income
2. Commission and Discount Income
3. Other Operating Income
4. Exchange Fluctuation Income
b.  Addition/deduction in the Interest Suspense during the period.

Banks shall use the annual audited financials of the last three years for the computation of gross
income under this approach. Hence, the capital requirement for operational risk for a whole financial
year shall remain constant. Until the accounts are finalized for the financial year, banks shall use the
provisional figures for the period, which should be validated by the internal auditor of the bank.

COMPUTATION OF RISK WEIGHT:

Operational risk-weighted assets are determined by multiplying the operational risk capital charge by
9.09 and adding together with the risk weighted exposures for credit risk.

MARKET RISK
DEFINITION OF MARKET RISK:

Market risk is defined as the risk of losses in on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions arising
from adverse movements in market prices. The major constituents of market risks are:

a.  The risks pertaining to interest rate related instruments;

b.  Foreign exchange risk (including gold positions) throughout the bank; and

c.  The risks pertaining to investment in equities and commodities.

SEGREGATION OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO:

Banks will have to segregate their investment portfolio into any of following three categories:
a. Held for Trading:

An investment that is made for the purpose of generating a profit from short term
fluctuations in price should be classified under this category. An asset should be classified as
held for trading even if it is a part of a portfolio of similar assets for which there is a pattern of
trading for the purpose of generating a profit from short term fluctuations in price. These
investments should be marked to market on a daily basis and differences reflected in the profit
and loss account.

b. Held-to-Maturity:

Investments made with positive intent and ability of the bank to hold till maturity should be
classified as held to maturity investments. The bank does not have the positive intent to hold an
investment to maturity, if either of the following conditions are met:

1.  Bank has the intent and the ability to hold the asset for only an undefined period; or

2. Bank stands ready to sell the asset (other than if a situation arises that is non-recurring
and could not have been reasonably anticipated) in response to changes in market interest
rates or risks, liquidity needs, changes in the availability of and the yield on alternative
investments, changes in financing sources and terms, or changes in foreign currency risk.
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5.3

5.4

5.5

Held-to-maturity investments should be valued at amortised cost i.e. the cost price less any
impairments (if applicable). The impairments should be included in the profit and loss accounts
for the period.

C. Available for Sale:

All other investments that are neither "held for trading” nor "held to maturity" should be
classified under this category. These investments should be marked to market on a regular basis
and the difference to be adjusted through reserves. Banks are required to maintain Investment
Adjustment Reserve (eligible as Tier 2 capital) to the extent of 2% of available for sale
portfolio.

The share investment on intitutions specified under Directives no. 8 shall be exempted for
maitaining Investment Adjustment Reserve.

NET OPEN POSITION APPROACH:

Out of the various components of market risk, foreign exchange risk is predominating at this time.
The effects of other forms of market risk are minimal. Thus, a net open position approach has been
devised to measure the capital requirement for market risk. As evidenced by its hame, this approach
only addresses the risk of loss arising out of adverse movements in exchange rates. This approach
will be consolidated over time to incorporate other forms of market risks as they start to gain
prominence.

The designated Net Open Position approach requires banks to allocate a fixed proportion of capital in
terms of its net open position. The banks should allocate 5 percentage of their net open positions as
capital charge for market risk.

NET OPEN POSITION:

Net open position is the difference between financial assets and financialliability in a currency. In
other words, it is the uncovered volume of asset or liability which is exposed to changes in the
exchange rates of currencies. For capital adequacy requirements the net open position includes both
net spot positions as well as net forward positions.

For capital adequacy purposes, banks should calculate their net open position in the following
manner:

a.  Calculate the net open position in each of the foreign currencies.
b.  Convert the net open positions in each currency to NPR as per prevalent exchange rates.

c.  Aggregate the converted net open positions of all currencies, without paying attention to long
or short positions.

d.  This aggregate shall be the net open position of the bank.
COMPUTATION OF RISK WEIGHT:

Risk-weighted assets in respect of market risk are determined by multiplying the capital charges by
9.09 and adding together with the risk weighted exposures for credit risk.

REVIEW PROCESS
GENERAL:

The supervisory review process of the framework is intended not only to ensure that banks have
adequate capital to support all the risks in their business, but also to encourage banks to develop and
use better risk management techniques in monitoring and managing their risks. It is the responsibility
of the bank management in developing an internal capital assessment process and setting capital
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6.2

targets that are commensurate with the bank’s risk profile and control environment beyond the core
minimum requirements.

Nepal Rastra Bank recognizes the significance of the relationship between the amount of capital held
by the bank against its risks and the strength and effectiveness of the bank’s risk management and
internal control processes. However, increased capital should not be viewed as the only option for
addressing increased risks confronting the bank. Other means for addressing risk, such as
strengthening risk management, applying internal limits, strengthening the level of provisions and
reserves, and improving internal controls, must also be considered. Furthermore, capital should not be
regarded as a substitute for addressing fundamentally inadequate control or risk management
processes.

There are three main areas that is particularly suited to treatment under this process: risks considered
under minimum capital requirements which are not fully captured it (e.g. credit concentration risk);
those factors not taken into account by the minimum capital requirements (e.g. business and strategic
risk); and factors external to the bank (e.g. business cycle effects).

In order to achieve the objectives of the supervisory review process, this process has been broadly
divided into three parts:

a. Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)

b.  Supervisory Review

C. Supervisory Response

INTERNAL CAPITAL ADEQUACY ASSESSMENT PROCESS:

The internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) is a comprehensive process which
requires board and senior management oversight, monitoring, reporting and internal control reviews
at regular intervals to ensure the alignment of regulatory capital requirement with the true risk profile
of the bank and thus ensure long-term safety and soundness of the bank. The key components of an
effective ICAAP are discussed below.

a. Board and senior management oversight

Bank management is responsible for understanding the nature and level of risk being taken by
the bank and how this risk relates to adequate capital levels. It is also responsible for ensuring
that the formality and sophistication of the risk management processes is commensurate with
the complexity of its operations. A sound risk management process, thus, is the foundation for
an effective assessment of the adequacy of a bank’s capital position.

The board of directors of the bank are responsible for setting the bank’s tolerance for risks. The
board should also ensure that management establishes a mechanism for assessing various risks;
develops a system to relate these risks to the bank’s capital level and sets up a method for
monitoring compliance with internal policies. It is equally important that the board instills
strong internal controls and thereby an effective control environment through adoption of
written policies and procedures and ensures that the policies and procedures are effectively
communicated throughout the bank.

The analysis of a bank’s current and future capital requirements in relation to its strategic
objectives is a vital element of the strategic planning process. The strategic plan should clearly
outline the bank’s capital needs, anticipated capital expenditures, desirable capital level, and
external capital sources. Senior management and the board should view capital planning as a
crucial element in being able to achieve its desired strategic objectives.

b. Sound capital assessment
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Another crucial component of an effective ICAAP is the assessment of capital. In order to be
able to make a sound capital assessment the bank should, at minimum, have the following:

Policies and procedures designed to ensure that the bank identifies, measures, and reports
all material risks;

A process that relates capital to the level of risk;

A process that states capital adequacy goals with respect to risk, taking account of the
bank’s strategic focus and business plan; and

A process of internal control, reviews and audit to ensure the integrity of the overall
management process.

Comprehensive assessment of risks

All material risks faced by the bank should be addressed in the capital assessment process.
Nepal Rastra Bank recognizes that not all risks can be measured precisely. However, bank
should develop a process to estimate risks with reasonable certainties. In order to make a
comprehensive assessment of risks, the process should, at minimum, address the following
forms of risk.

1.

Credit risk:Banks should have methodologies that enable them to assess the credit risk
involved in exposures to individual borrowers or counterparties as well as at the portfolio
level. The credit review assessment of capital adequacy, at a minimum, should cover risk
rating systems, portfolio analysis/aggregation, large exposures and risk concentrations.

Internal risk ratings are an important tool in monitoring credit risk. Internal risk ratings
should be adequate to support the identification and measurement of risk from all credit
exposures, and should be integrated into an institution’s overall analysis of credit risk and
capital adequacy. The ratings system should provide detailed ratings for all assets, not
only for problem assets.

Credit concentration risk:Risk concentrations are arguably the single most important
cause of major problems in banks. A risk concentration is any single exposure or group
of exposures with the potential to produce losses large enough (relative to a bank’s
capital, total assets, or overall risk level) to threaten a bank’s health or ability to maintain
its core operations.

Lending being the primary activity of most banks, credit risk concentrations are often the
most material risk concentrations within a bank. However, risk concentrations can arise
in a bank’s assets, liabilities, or off-balance sheet items, through the execution or
processing of transactions (either product or service), or through a combination of
exposures across these broad categories. Credit risk concentrations are based on common
or correlated risk factors, which, in times of stress, have an adverse effect on the
creditworthiness of each of the individual counterparties making up the concentration.

Such credit concentrations are not addressed in the minimum capital requirements for
credit risk. Thus, banks should have in place effective internal policies, systems and
controls to identify, measure, monitor, and control their credit risk concentrations. Banks
should explicitly consider the extent of their credit risk concentrations in their assessment
of capital adequacy under review processes. These policies should cover the different
forms of credit risk concentrations to which a bank may be exposed to. Such
concentrations include but are not limited to:
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¢ Significant exposures to an individual counterparty or group of related counterparty.
Banks might also establish an aggregate limit for the management and control of all
of its large exposures as a group;

e Credit exposures to counterparties in the same economic sector or geographic region;

e Credit exposures to counterparties whose financial performance is dependent on the
same activity or commaodity; and

e Indirect credit exposures arising from a bank’s CRM activities (e.g. exposure to a
similar type of collateral or credit protection provided by a single counterparty or
same collateral in cases of multiple banking).

A Dbank’s framework for managing credit risk concentrations should be clearly
documented and should include a definition of the credit risk concentrations relevant to
the bank and how these concentrations and their corresponding limits are calculated.
Limits should be defined in relation to a bank’s capital, total assets or, where adequate
measures exist, its overall risk level. A bank’s management should conduct periodic
stress tests of its major credit risk concentrations and review the results of those tests to
identify and respond to potential changes in market conditions that could adversely
impact the bank’s performance.

Operational risk:The failure to properly manage operational risk can result in a
misstatement of an institution’s risk/return profile and expose the institution to significant
losses. Gross income, used in the Basic Indicator Approach is only a proxy for the scale
of operational risk exposure of a bank and can in some cases underestimate the need for
capital. Thus, banks should develop a framework for managing operational risk and
evaluate the adequacy of capital as prescribed by this framework. The framework should
cover the bank’s appetite and tolerance for operational risk, as specified through the
policies for managing this risk, including the extent and manner in which operational risk
is transferred outside the bank. It should also include policies outlining the bank’s
approach to identifying, assessing, monitoring and controlling/mitigating the risk.

Market risk: The prescribed approach for the computation of capital charge for market
risk is very simple and thus may not be directly aligned with the magnitude of risk.
Likewise, the approach only incorporates risks arising out of adverse movements in
exchange rates while ignoring other forms of risks like interest rate risk and equity risks.
Thus, banks should develop a framework that addresses these various forms of risk and at
the same time perform stress tests to evaluate the adequacy of capital.

The use of internal models by the bank for the measurement of market risk is highly
encouraged. Wherever banks make use of internal models for computation of capital
charge for market risks, the bank management should ensure the adequacy and
completeness of the system regardless of the type and level of complexity of the
measurement system as the quality and reliability of the measurement system is largely
dependent on the quality of the data and various assumptions used in the model.

Liquidity risk:Liquidity is crucial to the ongoing viability of any financial institution.
Capital positions can have a telling effect on institution’s ability to obtain liquidity,
especially in a crisis. Each bank must have adequate systems for measuring, monitoring
and controlling liquidity risk. Banks should evaluate the adequacy of capital given their
own liquidity profile and the liquidity of the markets in which they operate. Banks are
also encouraged to make use of stress testing to determine their liquidity needs and the
adequacy of capital.
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6.3

6.  Other risks:Although the ‘other’ risks, such as reputational and strategic risk, are not
easily measurable, banks are expected to take these into consideration as well while
deciding on the level of capital.

Monitoring and reporting

The bank should establish an adequate system for monitoring and reporting risk exposures and
assessing how the bank’s changing risk profile affects the need for capital. The bank’s senior
management or board of directors should, on a regular basis, receive reports on the bank’s risk
profile and capital needs. These reports should allow senior management to:

o Evaluate the level and trend of material risks and their effect on capital levels;

o Evaluate the sensitivity and reasonableness of key assumptions used in the capital
assessment measurement system;

e Determine that the bank holds sufficient capital against the various risks and is in
compliance with established capital adequacy goals; and

e Assess its future capital requirements based on the bank’s reported risk profile and make
necessary adjustments to the bank’s strategic plan accordingly.

Internal control review

The bank’s internal control structure is essential to a sound capital assessment process.
Effective control of the capital assessment process includes an independent review and, where
appropriate, the involvement of internal or external audits. The bank’s board of directors has a
responsibility to ensure that management establishes a system for assessing the various risks,
develops a system to relate risk to the bank’s capital level, and establishes a method for
monitoring compliance with internal policies. The board should regularly verify whether its
system of internal controls is adequate to ensure well-ordered and prudent conduct of business.

The bank should conduct periodic reviews of its risk management process to ensure its
integrity, accuracy, and reasonableness. Key areas that should be reviewed include:

e Appropriateness of the bank’s capital assessment process given the nature, scope and
complexity of its activities;

o Identification of large exposures and risk concentrations;
e Accuracy and completeness of data inputs into the bank’s assessment process;
o Reasonableness and validity of scenarios used in the assessment process; and

e Stress testing and analysis of assumptions and inputs.

SUPERVISORY REVIEW:

Nepal Rastra Bankshall regularly review the process by which a bank assesses its capital adequacy,
risk positions, resulting capital levels, and quality of capital held by a bank. Supervisors shall also
evaluate the degree to which a bank has in place a sound internal process to assess capital adequacy.
The emphasis of the review should be on the quality of the bank’s risk management and controls and
should not result in supervisors functioning as bank management. The periodic review can involve
any or a combination of:

On-site examinations or inspections;
Off-site review;

Discussions with bank management;
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Review of work done by external auditors (provided it is adequately focused on the necessary
capital issues); and

Periodic reporting.

Some of the key areas which will be reviewed during the supervisory review process are discussed
hereunder

a.

Review of adequacy of risk assessment

NRB shall assess the degree to which internal targets and processes incorporate the full range
of material risks faced by the bank. Supervisors shall also review the adequacy of risk measures
used in assessing internal capital adequacy and the extent to which these risk measures are used
operationally in setting limits, evaluating business line performance, and evaluating and
controlling risks more generally. Supervisors shall consider the results of sensitivity analyses
and stress tests conducted by the institution and how these results relate to capital plans.

Assessment of capital adequacy

NRB shall review the bank’s processes to determine that:

o Target levels of capital chosen are comprehensive and relevant to the current operating
environment;

e These levels are properly monitored and reviewed by senior management; and
e The composition of capital is appropriate for the nature and scale of the bank’s business.

NRB shall also consider the extent to which the bank has provided for unexpected events in
setting its capital levels. This analysis should cover a wide range of external conditions and
scenarios, and the sophistication of techniques and stress tests used should be commensurate
with the bank’s activities.

Assessment of the control environment

NRB shallconsider the quality of the bank’s management information reporting and systems,
the manner in which business risks and activities are aggregated, and management’s record in
responding to emerging or changing risks. In all instances, the capital level at an individual
bank should be determined according to the bank’s risk profile and adequacy of its risk
management process and internal controls. External factors such as business cycle effects and
the macroeconomic environment should also be considered.

Supervisory review of compliance with minimum standards

In order to obtain relief as per this framework banks are required to observe a number of
requirements, including risk management standards and disclosures. In particular, banks will be
required to disclose features of their internal methodologies used in calculating minimum
capital requirements. As part of the supervisory review process, supervisors must ensure that
these conditions are being met on an ongoing basis. Likewise, the supervisors must ensure that
qualifying criteria as specified in the framework are continuously being met as these criteria are
developed as benchmarks aligned with bank management expectations for effective risk
management's and capital allocation.

Significance of risk transfer

Securitization or credit sale agreements with recourse may be carried out for purposes other
than credit risk transfer (e.g. funding). Where this is the case, there might still be a limited
transfer of credit risk. However, for an originating bank to achieve reductions in capital
requirements, the risk transfer arising from a securitization or credit sale has to be deemed
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sufficient by the NRB. If the risk transfer is considered to be insufficient or non existent, NRB
can require the application of a higher capital requirement or, alternatively, may deny a bank
from obtaining any capital relief from the securitization or transfer agreements. Therefore, the
capital relief that can be achieved will correspond to the amount of credit risk that is effectively
transferred.

Credit Risk Mitigants

In case when the eligibility requirements are not fulfilled, NRB will not consider Credit Risk
Mitigants in allocating capital. Similarly, CRM may give rise to residual risks, which may
render the overall risk reduction less effective. Where these risks are not adequately controlled
by the bank, NRB may impose additional capital charges or take other appropriate supervisory
actions.

Operational risk and Market Risk

The framework prescribes simple approaches for allocating capital for operational and market
risk which may not be directly aligned with the volume and complexity of risk. Thus, the
supervisor shall consider whether the capital requirements generated by the prescribed
approaches give a consistent picture of the individual bank'’s risk exposure in comparison with
the peer group and the banking industry at large. Where NRB is convinced such is not the case,
appropriate supervisory response is warranted.

Market Discipline

The framework requires banks to disclose various key informations about their business on a
periodic basis. It is imperative that the banks discharge their obligations under the disclosure
requirements in order to be eligible to claim benefits of CRM. In line with the utmost
significance of this requirement, the supervisor shall review the adequacy of the disclosures. As
a part of this process itself, the supervisor shall regularly review the website of the banks and
review the contents of the site. Wherever the review process identifies any shortcomings or
non-compliances, appropriate supervisory response shall be initiated.

6.4 SUPERVISORY RESPONSE:

Nepal Rastra Bank expects banks to operate above the minimum regulatory capital ratios. If NRB is
not convinced about the risk management practices and the control environment, it has the authority
to require banks to hold capital in excess of the minimum.

a.

Supervisory adjustments in risk weighted assets and capital

Having carried out the review process as described above, supervisors should take appropriate
action if they are not satisfied with the results of the bank’s own risk assessment and capital
allocation. In such a scenario, NRB shall be empowered to undertake any or combination of the
following adjustments in the banks risk weighted assets and regulatory capital computations.

1. Shortfall in provisions made by the bank against adversely classified assets shall be
deducted from the Tier 1 capital.

2. The loans and facilities extended to Directors, Employees (other than loans given under
Employee rules), Shareholders holding more than 1% percent shares and related parties
as well as loans, advances and facilities restricted by the prevailing rules and regulations
shall be deducted from Tier 1 capital.

3. In case the bank has provided loans and facilities in excess of its Single Obligor Limits,
10% of all such excess exposures shall be added to the risk weighted exposure for credit
risk.
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10.

Where the bank has been involved in the sale of credit with recourse facility, 1% of the
contract (sale) value shall be added to the risk weight for credit risk.

Where the banks do not have satisfactory Assets Liability Management policies and
practices to effectively manage the market risks, an additional risk weight of 1% of Net
Interest Income of the immediate previous financial year shall be added to the risk weight
for market risk.

Where the banks do not adopt sound practices for the management of operational risk, an
additional capital charge of 2% to 5% of Gross Income of immediate previous financial
year shall be levied for operational risks.

Where the Gross Income determined for computation of capital charge of Operational
Risk for all of the last three years is negative and where the banks themselves have not
addressed the capital charge for operational risk, 5% of the total credit and investments
net of specific provisions shall be the capital charge for operational risk.

New banks who have not completed a year of operation and hence whose gross income
cannot be measured reliably and where the banks themselves have not addressed the
capital charge for operational risk, shall also be required to compute their capital charge
for operational risk vide the same approach as prescribed for banks with negative gross
income. These banks may use the gross income approach from the second year onwards.
But, based on the reasonableness of the so- computed capital charge for Operation Risk,
during the first three years of operation, review process may require additional proportion
of capital charge.

During the course of review, where the supervisor is not satisfied with the overall risk
management policies and procedures of the bank, the total risk weighted exposures of the
bank shall be increased up to 5%.

In case the bank has not achieved the desired level of disclosure requirements, the total
risk weighted exposures of the bank shall be increased up to 3%.

Banks that do not meet the eligibility requirements to claim the benefit under credit risk
mitigation techniques shall not be allowed the benefit of CRM.

Corrective Actions for Non-Compliances

1.

The failure on part of the banks to meet the provisions of this framework shall be
considered as a violation of the NRB directives and shall attract stipulated actions. The
nature of the enforcement action largely depends on degree of the capital adequacy of the
bank. The trigger points and the prescribed action in case of non-compliance shall be as
per the provisions of Prompt Corrective Action Bylaw,2074 propounded by Nepal Rastra
Bank.

DISCLOSURE
GENERAL:

The purpose of disclosure requirements is to complement the minimum capital requirements and the
review process by developing a set of disclosure requirements which will allow market participants to
assess key pieces of information on the scope of application, capital, risk exposures, risk assessment
processes, and hence the capital adequacy of the bank. It is believed that providing disclosures that
are based on a common framework is an effective means of informing the market about a bank’s
exposure to those risks and provides a consistent and comprehensive disclosure framework that
enhances comparability. The importance of disclosure is more pronounced in cases of banks that rely
on internal methodologies in assessing capital requirements.
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7.2

7.3

1.4

DISCLOSURE PRINCIPLES:

Banks should have a formal disclosure policy approved by the Board of Directors that addresses the
bank’s approach for determining what disclosures it will make and the internal controls over the
disclosure process. In addition, banks should implement a process for assessing the appropriateness of
their disclosures, including validation and frequency. While deciding on the disclosure policy, the
board should pay due attention to strike a balance between materiality and proprietary and
confidential information.

a. Materiality

Besides the minimum prescribed disclosure requirements, a bank should decide which
additional disclosures are relevant for it based on the materiality concept. Information would be
regarded as material if its omission or misstatement could change or influence the assessment
or decision of a user relying on that information for the purpose of making economic decisions.

b. Proprietary and confidential information

Proprietary information encompasses information (for example on products or systems), that if
shared with competitors would render a bank’s investment in these products/systems less
valuable, and hence would undermine its competitive position. Information about customers is
often confidential, in that it is provided under the terms of a legal agreement or counterparty
relationship. This has an impact on what banks should reveal in terms of information about
their customer base, as well as details on their internal arrangements, for instance
methodologies used, parameter estimates, data etc. The disclosure requirements set out below
by NRB aims to strike an appropriate balance between the need for meaningful disclosure and
the protection of proprietary and confidential information.

VALIDATION:

The disclosures of the bank should be subjected to adequate validation. In addition, supplementary
material (such as Management’s Discussion and Analysis) that is published should also be subjected
to sufficient scrutiny (e.g. internal control assessments, etc.) to satisfy the validation issue. If material
is not published under a validation regime, for instance in a stand alone report or as a section on a
website, then management should ensure that appropriate verification of the information takes place,
in accordance with the general disclosure principles.

DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS:

Banks should at minimum, disclose the following information at the stipulated time intervals. At the
same time, banks shall be free to disclose any other information they consider important for its
stakeholders as and when they consider necessary, beyond the prescribed requirements.

a. Banks should provide the following disclosures as at the end of each financial year along with
the annual financial statements.

1.  Capital structure and capital adequacy
o Tier 1 capital and a breakdown of its components;
o Tier 2 capital and a breakdown of its components;

o Detailed information about the Subordinated Term Debts with information on the
outstanding amount, maturity, amount raised during the year and amount eligible to
be reckoned as capital funds.

o Deductions from capital;

o Total qualifying capital;
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Capital adequacy ratio;

Summary of the bank’s internal approach to assess the adequacy of its capital to
support current and future activities, if applicable; and

Summary of the terms, conditions and main features of all capital instruments,
especially in case of subordinated term debts including hybrid capital instruments.

2. Risk exposures

O

O

O

Risk weighted exposures for Credit Risk, Market Risk and Operational Risk;
Risk Weighted Exposures under each of 9 categories of Credit Risk;
Total risk weighted exposure calculation table;

Amount of NPAs (both Gross and Net)

» Restructure/Reschedule Loan

» Substandard Loan

» Doubtful Loan

» Loss Loan

NPA ratios

» Gross NPA to gross advances

> Net NPA to net advances

Movement of Non Performing Assets

Write off of Loans and Interest Suspense

Movements in Loan Loss Provisions and Interest Suspense

Details of additional Loan Loss Provisions

Segregation of investment portfolio into Held for trading, Held to maturity and
Available for sale category

3. Risk Management Function

O

O

For each separate risk area (Credit, Market and Operational risk), banks must
describe their risk management objectives and policies, including:

» Strategies and processes;

» The structure and organization of the relevant risk management function;
» The scope and nature of risk reporting and/or measurement systems; and
>

Policies for hedging and/or mitigating risk and strategies, and processes for
monitoring the continuing effectiveness of hedges/mitigants.

Types of eligible credit risk mitigants used and the benefits availed under CRM.

b.  All banks should make following disclosures on a quarterly basis on their respective websites.

o Tier 1 capital and a breakdown of its components;

o Tier 2 capital and a breakdown of its components;
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o Detailed information about the Subordinated Term Debts with information on the
outstanding amount, maturity, amount raised during the year and amount eligible to be
reckoned as capital funds.

o Deductions from capital;
o Total qualifying capital;
o Capital adequacy ratio;
o Risk weighted exposures for Credit Risk, Market Risk and Operational Risk;
o Risk Weighted Exposures under each of 9 categories of Credit Risk;
o Total risk weighted exposure calculation table;
o Amount of NPAs (both Gross and Net)
» Restructure/Reschedule Loan
» Substandard Loan
» Doubtful Loan
» Loss Loan
o NPA ratios
» Gross NPA to gross advances
» Net NPA to net advances
o Movement of Non Performing Assets
o Write off of Loans and Interest Suspense
o Movements in Loan Loss Provisions and Interest Suspense
o Details of Additional Loan Loss Provisions

o Segregation of investment portfolio into Held for trading, Held to maturity and Available
for sale category

o Summary of the bank’s internal approach to assess the adequacy of its capital to support
current and future activities, if applicable; and

o Summary of the terms, conditions and main features of all capital instruments, especially in
case of subordinated term debts including hybrid capital instruments.

Disclosure requirements under this framework should also be published in the respective
websites of the banks. Such disclosures of the banks should also be updated to reflect the
capital adequacy position of the banks after the supervisory adjustments under the review
process.

Banks are required to report to NRB their capital adequacy computations, according to the
format as specified in Annexure of this framework on a monthly basis within one month after
the end of the month or as required by NRB from time to time. All such returns must be
validated by the internal auditor of the bank. If the monthly internal audit couldnot be carried
out, it should be disclosed on the monthly return. But, such returns at the end of each quarter
must be submitted with the validation from the internal auditor of the bank.

In addition to the returns specified above, a bank must inform NRB within 30 days of:
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1. Any breach of the minimum capital adequacy requirements set out in this framework
together with an explanation of the reasons for the breach and the remedial measures it has
taken to address those breaches.

2. Any concerns it has about its capital adequacy, along with proposed measures to address
these concerns.

Full compliance of these disclosure requirements is a pre-requisite before banks can obtain any
capital relief (i.e. adjustments in the risk weights of collateralized or guaranteed exposures) in
respect of any credit risk mitigation techniques.

¥R



FORM NO. 1 CAPITAL ADEQUACY TABLE (Summary)

(Rs.In .....)
Particulars Current Period Previous Period
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
Tier 1 Capital
Tier 2 Capital
Total Capital

Risk-Weighted Exposures

Regulatory Ratios

Current Period

Previous Period

Leverage Ratio

Common Equity Tier 1 to Risk Weighted Exposure Ratio

Tier 1 to Risk Weighted Exposure Ratio

Total Capital to Risk Weighted Exposure Ratio

FORM NO. 1A CAPITAL ADEQUACY TABLE

(Rs.In .....)

1. 1 Risk Weighted Exposures

Current Period | Previous Period

a Risk Weighted Exposure for Credit Risk

b Risk Weighted Exposure for Operational Risk

c Risk Weighted Exposure for Market Risk

Adjustments under Pillar 11

Requirement (6.4 a9)

Add: 3% of the total RWE due to non compliance to Disclosure

Total Risk Weighted Exposures (After Bank's adjustments of Pillar 11)

1.2 CAPITAL Current Period | Previous Period
Tier 1 Capital (Core Capital) (CET1 +AT1) 0 0
Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) 0 0

Paid up Equity Share Capital

Equity Share Premium

Proposed Bonus Equity Shares

Statutory General Reserves

Retained Earnings

Un-audited current year cumulative profit/(Loss)

Capital Redemption Reserve

Capital Adjustment Reserve

Dividend Equalization Reserves

Other Free Reserve

Less: Goodwill

Less: Intangible Assets

Less: Deferred Tax Assets

Less: Fictitious Assets

Less

. Investment in equity in licensed Financial Institutions

oo [s|g3|—[x—|—|=le|*+|c|a|c ||

Less

- Investment in equity of institutions with financial interests

Yo




Less: Investment in equity of institutions in excess of limits

-

Less: Investments arising out of underwriting commitments

w

Less: Reciprocal crossholdings

Less: Purchase of land & building in excess of limit &
unutilized

Less: Cash Flow Hedge

Less: Defined Benefit Pension Assets

Less: Un recognized Defined Benefit Pension Liabilities

x|s|<|e|~

Less: Other Deductions

Adjustments under Pillar 11

Less: Shortfall in Provision (6.4a 1)

Less: Loans and Facilities extended to Related Parties and
Restricted lending (6.4 a 2)

Ad

ditional Tier 1 (AT1)

o3

Perpetual Non Cumulative Preference Share Capital

(o3

Perpetual Debt Instruments

o

Stock Premium

Su

pplementary Capital (Tier I1)

Cumulative and/or Redeemable Preference Share

Subordinated Term Debt

Hybrid Capital Instruments

Stock Premium

General loan loss provision

Exchange Equalization Reserve

Investment Adjustment Reserve

Assets Revaluation Reserve

—|T|IQ || |a|O|T|®

Other Reserves

Total Capital Fund (Tier | and Tier I1)

0

0

1.3 CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIOS

Current Period

Previous Period

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital to Total Risk Weighted Exposures
(After Bank's adjustments of Pillar 11)

Tier 1 Capital to Total Risk Weighted Exposures (After Bank's
adjustments of Pillar I1)

Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital to Total Risk Weighted Exposures(After
Bank's adjustments of Pillar 1)

FORM NO. 2: RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURE FOR CREDIT RISK

(Rs.In .....)
Book (Specific ~|Eligible |\, _[Risk \Ff\z:‘ghte ;
A. Balance Sheet Exposures Value |Provision |CRM Weight Exposures
a b c d=a-b-c |e f=d*e
Cash Balance 0 0 0 0% 0
Balance With Nepal Rastra Bank 0 0 0 0% 0
Gold 0 0 0 0% 0
Invest_rr_1ent in  Nepalese  Government 0 0 0 0% 0
Securities
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All Claims on Government of Nepal 0 0 0 0% 0
Investment in Nepal Rastra Bank securities 0 0 0 0% 0
All claims on Nepal Rastra Bank 0 0 0 0% 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0

Bank (ECA 0-1) L 0 0% |0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0

Bank (ECA -2) 0 0 0 0 20% |0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0

Bank (ECA -3) o |0 0 50% 10
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA-4-6) o 0 o | 100% | 0
Claims on Foreign Government and Central 0
Bank (ECA -7) 0 0 0 0 150% | 0
Claims On BIS, IMF, ECB, EC and on

Multilateral Development Banks (MDB's) | 0 0 0 0% 0
recognized by the framework

Claims on Other Multilateral Development 0 0 0 0 100% | 0
Banks

Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% |0
Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA 7) 0 0 0 0 150% |0
Claims on dor_nestlc banks that meet capital 0 0 0 0 20% 0
adequacy requirements

Cla!ms on domestic panks that do not meet 0 0 0 0 100% | 0
capital adequacy requirements

Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% |0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 150% |0
Claims on foreign bank incorporated in

SAARC region operating with a buffer of | 0 0 0 0 20% 0
1% above their respective regulatory capital

Claims on Domestic Corporates 0 0 0 0 100% |0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% |0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 7) 0 0 0 0 150% |0
Claims secured by Commercial real estate 0 0 0 0 100% |0
Past due claims 0 0 0 0 150% | 0
High Risk claims 0 0 0 0 150% |0
Investments in equity and other capital

instruments of institutions listed in the stock | 0 0 0 0 100% | O
exchange

Investments in equity and other capital

instruments of institutions not listed in the | 0 0 0 0 150% | 0

stock exchange

L




Staff loan secured by residential property 0 0 0 0 60% 0

Interejsf[ Receivable/claim on government 0 0 0 0 0% 0

securities

Cash in transit and other cash items in the

process of collection 0 0 0 0 20% 0

Other Assets (as per attachment) 0 0 0 0 100% |0
TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0

Gross - - . Risk
Specific  |Eligible Risk )
B. Off Balance Sheet Exposures (B/Z?uke Provision |CRM Net Value Weight \é\)/gg;tﬁgs
a b c d=a-b-c |e f=d*e

Revocable Commitments 0 0 0 0% 0

Bills Under Collection 0 0 0 0% 0

Forward Exchange Contract Liabilities 0 0 0 0 10% 0

LC Commitments With Original Maturity

Upto 6 months 0 0 0 0 20% 0
domestic counterparty
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0 200 |0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0 50% |0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% |0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 150% |0

LC Commitments With Original Maturity

Over 6 months 0 0 0 0 50% |0
domestic counterparty
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0 50% |0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% | O
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 150% | 0

Bid Bond, Performance Bond and Counter

guarantee 0 0 0 0 50% 0
domestic counterparty
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 0-1) 0 0 0 0 20 |0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 2) 0 0 0 0 50% 0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 3-6) 0 0 0 0 100% |0
foreign counterparty (ECA Rating 7) 0 0 0 0 150% |0

Underwriting commitments 0 0 0 0 50% |0

Lendl_ng of Bank's Securities or Posting of 0 0 0 0 100% | 0

Securities as collateral

Repurchase Agreements, Assets sale with 0 0 0 0 100% | 0

recourse

Advance Payment Guarantee 0 0 0 0 100% |0

Financial Guarantee 0 0 0 0 100% | O

Acceptances and Endorsements 0 0 0 0 100% | O

;anai_d' portion of Partly paid shares and 0 0 0 0 100% | 0

ecurities
Irrevocable Credit commitments (short term) | 0 0 0 0 20% 0
Irrevocable Credit commitments (long term) | 0 0 0 0 50% 0
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Claims on foreign bank incorporated in
SAARC region operating with a buffer of
1% above their respective regulatory capital

requirement

20%

Other Contingent Liabilities

100%

Unpaid Guarantee Claims

200%

TOTAL

Adjustment (A) +(B)

Total RWE for credit Risk Before

o |Oo|lo|o

o |O|lo|o

o |O|lo|o

o |Oo|lo|o

o |Oo|lo|o

Adjustments under Pillar 11

of Single Obligor Limits(6.4 a 3)

Add: 10% of the loan and facilities in excess

4)

Add: 1% of the contract(sale) value in case
of the sale of credit with recourse (6.4 a

adjustments of Pillar I1)

Total RWE for credit Risk (After Bank's

FORM NO.3 ELIGIBLE CREDIT RISK MITIGANTS

Credit exposures Deposits
with
Bank

Deposits
with
other
banks/FI

Gold

Govt.&
NRB
Securities

G'tee of
Govt.
of
Nepal

Sec/G't
ee of
Other
Soverei
gns

G'tee of |G'te
domest |e of

ic

MD

banks |Bs

Sec/G't| Total
e of
Foreig

n
Banks

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Balance Sheet Exposures

Claims on Foreign government and
Central Bank (ECA -2)

Claims on Foreign government and
Central Bank (ECA -3)

Claims on Foreign government and
Central Bank (ECA-4-6)

Claims on Foreign government and
Central Bank (ECA -7)

Claims on Other Multilateral
Development Banks

Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA
0-1)

Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA
2)

Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA
3-6)

Claims on Public Sector Entity (ECA
7)

Claims on domestic banks that meet
capital adequacy requirements

Claims on domestic banks that do not
meet capital adequacy requirements

Y ¥




Credit exposures Deposits |Deposits|Gold [Govt.& G'tee of|Sec/G't |G'tee of|G'te Sec/G't|Total
with with NRB Govt. |ee of|domest e ofpe of
Bank other Securities of Other |ic MD Foreig
banks/FI Nepal [Soverei|banks |Bs n
gns Banks
(a) (b) () |(d) (e | (@ () |(i)
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating
0-1) 0
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 0
2)
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 0
3-6)
Claims on foreign bank (ECA Rating 0
7)
Claims on foreign bank incorporated
in SAARC region operating with a
buffer of 1% above their respective
regulatory capital requirement
Claims on Domestic Corporates 0
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 0
0-1)
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 0
2)
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 0
3-6)
Claims on Foreign Corporates (ECA 0
7)
Claims secured by Commercial real 0
estate
Past due claims 0
High Risk claims 0
Investments in equity and other 0
capital instruments of institutions
listed in the stock exchange
Investments in equity and other 0
capital instruments of institutions not
listed in the stock exchange
Other Assets (as per attachment)
Total 0
Off Balance Sheet Exposures
Forward Exchange Contract
Liabilities
LC Commitments With Original 0
Maturity Upto 6 months
domestic counterparty
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Credit exposures Deposits |Deposits|Gold [Govt.& G'tee of|Sec/G't |G'tee of|G'te Sec/G't|Total
with with NRB Govt. |ee of|domest e ofpe of
Bank other Securities of Other |ic MD Foreig
banks/FI Nepal [Soverei|banks |Bs n
gns Banks
(a) (b) () |(d) (e | (@ () |(i)
foreign  counterparty (ECA 0
Rating 0-1)
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 2)
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 3-6)
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 7)
LC Commitments With Original 0
Maturity Over 6 months
domestic counterparty
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 0-1)
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 2)
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 3-6)
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 7)
Bid Bond, Performance Bond and 0
Counter guarantee
domestic counterparty
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 0-1)
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 2)
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 3-6)
foreign  counterparty  (ECA 0
Rating 7)
Underwriting commitments 0
Lending of Bank's Securities or 0
Posting of Securities as collateral
Repurchase Agreements, Assets sale 0
with recourse
Advance Payment Guarantee 0
Financial Guarantee 0
Acceptances and Endorsements 0
Unpaid portion of Partly paid shares 0
and Securities
Irrevocable  Credit  commitments 0
(Short Term)
Irrevocable  Credit  commitments
(Long Term)

1%




Credit exposures Deposits |Deposits|Gold [Govt.& G'tee of|Sec/G't |G'tee of|G'te Sec/G't|Total
with with NRB Govt. |ee of|domest e ofge of
Bank other Securities of Other |ic MD Foreig
banks/FI Nepal [Soverei|banks |Bs n
gns Banks
(a) (b) () |(d) (e | (@ () |(i)
Other Contingent Liabilities 0
Total
Grand Total
FORM NO.4 EXHIBIT OF CLAIMS WITH CREDIT RISK MITIGANTS
(Rs.dn ...............)
S.N | Counterparty Category | Facility | Outstanding | Eligible CRM
: Nature | Gross Haircut | Net
Amount Amount
FORM NO.5 OTHER ASSETS
S.No. | Assets Gross Amount Specific Net
Provision Balance
1 Cash and Cash Items in Transit 0
2 Miscellaneous Expenditure not written off 0
3 Fixed Assets 0
4 Interest Receivable on Other Investment 0
5 Interest Receivable on Loan 0
6 Non Banking Assets 0
7 Reconciliation Account 0
8 Draft Paid Without Notice 0
9 Sundry Debtors 0
10 Advance payment and Deposits 0
11 Staff Loan and Advance 0
12 Stationery 0
13 Other 0
TOTAL 0 0 0
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FORM NO. 6: RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURE FOR OPERATIONAL RISK

Particulars FY ......

Net Interest Income

Commission and Discount Income

Other Operating Income

Exchange Fluctuation Income

Addition/Deduction in Interest Suspense during the period

Gross income (a)

Alfa (b) 15%

15% 15%

Fixed Percentage of Gross Income [c=(axb)]

Capital Requirement for operational risk (d) (average of c)

Risk Weight (reciprocal of capital requirement of 11%) in times

(€)

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [f=(dxe)]

PILLAR-1I ADJUSTMENTS

If Gross Income for all the last three years is negative(6.4 a 8)
Total Credit and Investment (net of Specific Provision)

Capital Requirement for operational risk (5%)

Risk Weight (reciprocal of capital requirement of 11%) in times

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [g]

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [h=f or g)

9.09

9.09

FORM NO.7 RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURE FOR MARKET RISK

S.No. | Currency Open Position (FCY) Open Position (NPR)

Relevant Open Position

INR

usD

GBP

EURO

THB

O IN[O || B W|IDN| -

I

Total Open Position (a)

Fixed Percentage (b) 5%
Capital Charge for Market Risk [c=(axb)]
Risk Weight (reciprocal of capital requirement of 11%) in times (d) 9.09

Equivalent Risk Weight Exposure [e=(cxd)]
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FORM NO.: 8 Leverage Ratio

(Rs.In .....)

Particulars

Amount

A | Exposure Measure

1. On balance sheet Assets(net of specific provisioning)

2. Repurchase agreements and securities finance

3. Derivatives

4. Off balance sheet exposure

B | Capital Measure

1. Common Equity Tier 1 Capital (After regulatory Adjustment)

2. Additional Tier 1 Capital

%

C | Leverage Ratio

Note (if any):

4%
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1.

®

TSI TTAAT 95 oo TEhl S qgT [axiid GTesel JRT Tl faxiid STHA(Financial
Guarantee)eT STERHT Tl boti/Afaar fad qor 98T TR T 9re S |

Eull
TR, TG AL TErHT O [GTaFHb! draRaieh HRIAR (ATILT /) T q16T ATTHT JIHAT S |

93. 5% M (BankGuarantee) TF=HT

¥.

K.

1%

Qe

qz.

(%) AT ST T 9 @A (Bank Guarantee) aTIdehl T8 Beneficiaryes  qohmT f&d
O ARITHT HNT IMAT Gl AT H1Y [@aiT qehrel oo /e Teae=aa <31 aeaa I1s,
| 41, International Chamber of Commerce, Uniform Rules for Demand Guarantee (URDG)
RN TR SfF THIMAEesh] gFAT 99 URDGHT  9UHT aRITe%eh] HATHHT & TThTHl
T O T 9 |
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Name of the Infrastructure Development Bank
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Note Year Year Year Year
Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.1
Due from Nepal Rastra Bank 4.2
Placement with Bank and Financial
Institutions 4.3
Derivative financial instruments 4.4
Other trading assets 4.5
Loan and advances to B/FIs 4.6
Loans and advances to customers 4.7
Investment securities 4.8
Current tax assets 4.9
Investment in subsidiaries 4.10
Investment in associates 4.11
Investment property 4.12
Property and equipment 4.13
Goodwill and Intangible assets 4.14
Deferred tax assets 4.15
Other assets 4.16
Total Assets
Current Previous Current Previous
Note Year Year Year Year
Liabilities
Due to Bank and Financial Institutions 4.17
Due to Nepal Rastra Bank 4.18
Derivative financial instruments 4.19
Deposits from customers 4.20
Borrowing 4.21
Current Tax Liabilities 4.9
Provisions 4.22
Deferred tax liabilities 4.15
Other liabilities 4.23
Debt securities issued 4.24
Subordinated Liabilities 4.25

Total liabilities
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Equity

Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings
Reserves

4.26

4.27

Total equity attributable to equity

holders
Non-controlling interest

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Contingent liabilities and commitment
Net assets value per share

4.28

Name of the Infrastructure Development Bank

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended ......Asar 20.......

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous

Note Year Year Year Year
Interest income 4.29
Interest expense 4.30
Net interest income
Fee and commission income 4.31
Fee and commission expense 4.32
Net fee and commission income
Net interest, fee and commission income
Net trading income 4.33
Other operating income 4.34
Total operating income
Impairment charge/(reversal) for loans

4.35
and other losses
Net operating income
Operating expense
Personnel expenses 4.36
Other operating expenses 4.37
Depreciation & Amortization 4.38

Operating Profit

RN



Non operating income 4.39
Non operating expense 4.40

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense 4.41
Current Tax
Deferred Tax

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Bank
Non-controlling interest

Profit for the year

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

Name of the Infrastructure Development Bank

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended ......Asar 20.......

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Note Year Year Year Year

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
a) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
e Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
e Gains/(losses) on revalution
e Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
e Income tax relating to above items
Net other comprehsive income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
b) Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
e Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge
e Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)
e Income tax relating to above items
e Reclassify to profit or loss
Net other comprehsive income that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
c) Share of other comprehensive income of associate accounted as per equited method
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

O



Equity holders of the Bank
Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive income for the period
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Name of the Infrastructure Development Bank

Group
Attributable to equity holders of the Bank
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reserve

Retained
earning
Other

reserve

Total

Non-controlling

interest

Total equity

Balance at Sawan 1, 20...

Adjustment/Restatement
Adjusted/Restated balance at Sawan 1, 20.....
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
Gains/(losses) on revalution
Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge

Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)

Total comprehensive income for the year

Transfer to reserve during the year

Transfer from reserve during the year

Transactions with owners, directly recognised in equity

Share issued
Share based payments
Dividends to equity holders
Bonus shares issued

Cash dividend paid
Other

Total contributions by and distributions

Balance at Asar end 20.....

Balance at Sawan 1, 20......

Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
Gains/(losses) on revalution
Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
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Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge
Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to reserve during the year
Transfer from reserve during the year
Transactions with owners, directly recognized in equity
Share issued
Share based payments
Dividends to equity holders
Bonus shares issued
Cash dividend paid

Other

Total contributions by and distributions

Balance at Asar end 20.....

Bank

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank 2
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Balance at Sawan 1, 20...

Adjustment/Restatement
Adjusted/Restated balance at Sawan 1, 20.....
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
Gains/(losses) on revalution
Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge
Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)
Total comprehensive income for the year
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Transfer to reserve during the year
Transfer from reserve during the year
Transactions with owners, directly recognised in equity
Share issued
Share based payments
Dividends to equity holders
Bonus shares issued

Cash dividend paid
Other

Total contributions by and distributions

Balance at Asar end 20.....

Balance at Sawan 1, 20......

Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Gains/(losses) from investments in equity instruments measured at fair value
Gains/(losses) on revalution
Atuarial gains/(losse) on defined benefit plans
Gains/(losses) on cash flow hedge
Exchange gains/(losses) (arising from translating financial assets of foreign operation)
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfer to reserve during the year
Transfer from reserve during the year
Transactions with owners, directly recognized in equity
Share issued
Share based payments
Dividends to equity holders
Bonus shares issued
Cash dividend paid

Other

Total contributions by and distributions

Balance at Asar end 20.....
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Name of the Infrastructure Development Bank
Consolidated Statement of cash flows

For the year ended ........ Asar 20.......
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Fees and other income received

Divided received

Receipts from other operating activities

Interest paid

Commission and fees paid

Cash payment to employees

Other expense paid

Operating cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase)/Decrease in operating assets

Due from Nepal Rastra Bank

Placement with bank and financial institutions
Other trading assets

Loan and advances to bank and financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers

Other assets

Increase/(Decrease) in operating liabilities
Due to bank and financial institutions

Due to Nepal Rastra Bank

Deposit from customers

Borrowings

Other liabilities

Net cash flow from operating activities before tax paid
Income taxes paid

Net cash flow from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investment securities

Receipts from sale of investment securities

Purchase of property and equipment

Receipt from the sale of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Receipt from the sale of intangible assets

Purchase of investment properties

Receipt from the sale of investment properties

cq



Interest received
Dividend received

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipt from issue of debt securities

Repayment of debt securities

Receipt from issue of subordinated liabilities
Repayment of subordinated liabilities

Receipt from issue of shares

Dividends paid

Interest paid

Other receipt/payment

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at Sawan 1, 20.......
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents held

Cash and cash equivalents at Asar end 20.....

%



Name of the Infrastructure Development Bank
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

for the year

1 Reporting entity
General and background information of infrastructure developmentbank and its subsidiary.
This shall also include the principal activities and location of the head office of the reporting
entity.
2 Basis of Preparation
2.1 | Statement of compliance
2.2 | Reporting period and approval of financial statements
2.3 | Functional and presentation currency
2.4 | Use of Estimates, assumptions and judgments
2.5 | Changes in Accounting policies
2.6 | New standards issued but not yet effective
2.7 | New Standards and interpretation not adopted
2.8 | Discounting
3 Significant Accounting Policies
3.1 | Basis of Measurement
3.2 | Basis of consolidation
a. Business combination
b. non controlling interest (NCI)
c. Subsidiaries
d.Loss of Control
e. Special Purpose Entity (SPE)
f.Transaction elimination on consolidation
3.3 | Cash andcash equivalent
3.4 | Financial assets and financial liabilities
Recognition
Classification
Measurement
De-recognition
Determination of fair value
Impairment
3.5 | Trading assets
3.6 | Derivatives assets and derivative liabilities
3.7 | Property and Equipment
3.8 | Goodwill Intangible assets

9




3.9

Investment Property

3.10

Income tax

Current Tax

Deferred Tax

3.11

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities

3.12

Provisions

3.13

Revenue Recognition

Interest income

Fee and commission income

Dividend income

Net trading income

Net income from other financial instrument at fair value through Profit or Loss

3.14

Interest expense

3.15

Employees Benefits

3.16

Leases

3.17

Foreign Currency translation

3.18

Financial guarantee and loan commitment

3.19

Share capital and reserves

3.20

Earnings per share including diluted

3.21

Segment reporting

(=X




Cash and cash equivalent 4.1
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Cash in hand

Balances with B/FIs

Money at call and short notice

Other

Total

Due from Nepal Rastra Bank 4.2
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Statutory balances with NRB

Securities purchased under resale agreement

Other deposit and receivable from NRB

Total

Placements with Bank and Financial Institutions 4.3
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Placement with domestic B/FIs

Placement with foreign B/Fls

Less: Allowances for impairment

Total

Derivative financial instruments 4.4
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Held for trading
Interest rate swap
Currency swap
Forward exchange contract
Others

Held for risk management
Interest rate swap
Currency swap
Forward exchange contract
Other

=



Total

Other trading assets
Group

Bank

4.5

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Treasury bills
Government bonds

NRB Bonds

Domestic Corporate bonds
Equities

Other

Total

Pledged
Non-pledged

Loan and advances to B/FIs
Group

Bank

4.6

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Loans to bank and financial institutions
Less: Allowances for impairment

Total

4.6.1: Allowances for impairment

Balance at Sawan 1
Impairment loss for the year:

Charge for the year
Recoveries/reversal
Amount written off

Balance at Asar end

Loans and advances to customers
Group

Bank

4.7

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Loan and advances measured at amortized cost

Less: Impairment allowances
Collective impairment
Individual impairment

Net amount

Loan and advances measured at

R0



FVTPL

Total

4.7.1: Analysis of loan and advances - By Product

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Product
Term loans
Overdraft
Trust receipt/Import loans
Demand and other working capital loans
Personal residential loans
Real estate loans
Margin lending loans
Hire purchase loans
Deprived sector loans
Bills purchased
Staff loans
Other
Sub total
Interest receivable
Grand total
4.7.2: Analysis of loan and advances - By Currency
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Nepalese rupee
Indian rupee
United State dollar
Great Britain pound
Euro
Japanese yen
Chinese Yuan
Other
Total
4.7.3: Analysis of loan and advances - By Collateral
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Secured

29



Movable/immovable assets

Gold and silver

Guarantee of domestic B/Fls
Government guarantee

Guarantee of international rated bank
Collateral of export document
Collateral of fixed deposit receipt
Collateral of Government securities
Counter guarantee

Personal guarantee

Other collateral

Subtotal

Unsecured

Grant Total

4.7.4: Allowances for impairment
Group

Bank

Current Previous
Year Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Specific allowances for impairment

Balance at Sawan 1
Impairment loss for the year:
Charge for the year
Recoveries/reversal during the year
Write-offs
Exchange rate variance on foreign currency impairment
Other movement
Balance at Asar end

Collective allowances for impairment
Balance at Sawan 1

Impairment loss for the year:

Charge/(reversal) for the year

Exchange rate variance on foreign currency impairment
Other movement
Balance at Asar end

Total allowances for impairment

Investment securities
Group

Bank

4.8
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Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Investment securities measured at amortized cost
Investment in equity measured at FVTOCI

Total

4.8.1: Investment securities measured at amortized cost

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Debt securities

Government bonds

Government treasury bills

Nepal Rastra Bank bonds

Nepal Rastra Bank deposits instruments
Other

Less: specific allowances for impairment

Total

4.8.2: Investment in equity measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Equity instruments
Quoted equity securities
Unquoted equity securities

Total

4.8.3: Information relating to investment in equities

Group Bank
Previous
Current Year Year Current Year Previous Year
Fair . . .
Fair Fair Fair

Cost ;/alu Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value
Investment in quoted equity
........................................... Ltd.
............ shares of Rs. .......each

3



Current tax assets

Current tax assets

Current year income tax assets
Tax assets of prior periods
Current tax liabilities

Current year income tax liabilities
Tax liabilities of prior periods

Total

Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in quoted subsidiaries
Investment in unquoted subsidiaries
Total investment

Less: Impairment allowances

Net carrying amount

4.10.1: Investment in qguoted subsidiaries

4.9
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
410
Bank
Current Previous
Year Year
Bank
Current Previous
Year Year
Fair Fair
Cost Value Cost Value

Q¥



4.10.2: Investment in unguoted subsidiaries

Bank
Current Previous
Year Year
Fair Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
........................................... Ltd.
............ shares of Rs. .......each
........................................... Ltd.
............ shares of Rs. .......each
Total
4.10.3: Information relating to subsidiaries of the Bank
Bank
Percentage of ownership held by
the Bank
Current Previous
Year Year
........................................... Ltd.
........................................... Ltd.
........................................... Ltd.
........................................... Ltd.
Group

Current Year

.Ltd L Ltd. LLtd L Ltd.

Equity interest held by NCI (%)

Profit/(loss) allocated during the year

Accumulated balances of NCI as on Asar end........
Dividend paid to NCI

Previous Year

.Ltd L Ltd. LLtd L Ltd.

Equity interest held by NCI (%)
AL



Profit/(loss) allocated during the year

Accumulated balances of NCI as on Asar end

Dividend paid to NCI

Investment in associates

Group
Current Previous Current
Year Year Year
Investment in quoted associates
Investment in unquoted associates
Total investment
Less: Impairment allowances
Net carrying amount
4.11.1: Investment in quoted associates
Group Bank
Previous
Current Year Previous Year Current Year Year
) Fair . .
Fair Fair Fair
Cost Value Cost ;/alu Cost Value Cost Value
.................................. Ltd.
............ shares of Rs. .......each
.................................. Ltd.
............ shares of Rs. .......each
Total
411.2: Investment in unquoted
associates
Group Bank
Previous
Current Year Previous Year Current Year Year
) Fair . .
Fair Fair Fair
Cost Value Cost ;/alu Cost Value Cost Value
............................... Ltd.
............ shares of Rs. .......each

%



4.11.3: Information relating to associates of the Bank

Group Bank
Percentage of Percentage of
ownership held by the ownership held by the
Bank Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
........................................... Ltd.
........................................... Ltd.
........................................... Ltd.
........................................... Ltd.
4.11.4: Equity value of associates
Group
Current Previous
Year Year
........................................... Ltd.
........................................... Ltd.
Total
Investment properties 4,12
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Investment properties measured at fair
value

Balance as on Sawan 1, ........
Addition/disposal during the year
Net changes in fair value during the year

Adjustment/transfer

¢



Net amount

Investment properties measured at
cost

Balance as on Sawan 1, ........
Addition/disposal during the year

Adjustment/transfer
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment loss

Net amount
Total
. 4.13
Property and Equipment
Group
< 3 5 5
o8 s -§ o ey €, < <o
Particulars 2| 22 | €5 | 8| 5| & | €5 | X X
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Cost

As on Sawan 1, 20X0
Addition during the Year
Acquisition
Capitalization
Disposal during the year
Adjustment/Revaluation
Balance as on Asar end 20X1
Addition during the Year
Acquisition
Capitalization
Disposal during the year
Adjustment/Revaluation

Balance as on Asar end 20X2

Depreciation and Impairment

As on Sawan 1, 20X0
Depreciation charge for the Year
Impairment for the year
Disposals
Adjustment

Ason Asar end 20X1
Impairment for the year
Depreciation charge for the Year
Disposals
Adjustment

As on Asar end 20X2

Capital Work in Progress
Net Book Value

As on Asar end 20X0

As on Asar end 20X1

As on Asar end 20X2
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Particulars

Land
Building

Leasehold
Properties

Computer

&

Accessories
Vehicles

Furniture
& Fixture

Machinery
Equipment
& Others

31st
Asar 20X2

Total

Total Asar
End 20X1

Cost
As on Sawan 1, 20X0
Addition during the Year
Acquisition
Capitalization
Disposal during the year
Adjustment/Revaluation
Balance as on Asar end 20X1
Addition during the Year
Acquisition
Capitalization
Disposal during the year
Adjustment/Revaluation

Balance as on Asar end 20X2

Depreciation and Impairment

As on Sawan 1, 20X0
Depreciation charge for the Year
Impairment for the year
Disposals
Adjustment

Ason Asar end 20X1
Impairment for the year
Depreciation charge for the Year
Disposals
Adjustment

As on Asar end 20X2

Capital Work in Progress
Net Book Value

As on Asar end 20X0

As on Asar end 20X1

As on Asar end 20X2

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Group

4.14

Particulars

Software

Goodwill

Purchased

Developed

Other

Total
Asar end
20X2

Total
Asar
end

20X1

Cost

As on Sawan 1, 20X0

Addition during the Year
Acquisition
Capitalization

Disposal during the year

Adjustment/Revaluation

Balance as on Asar end 20X1
Addition during the Year
Acquisition
Capitalization

%




Disposal during the year
Adjustment/Revluation

Balance as on Asar end 20X2

Amortization and Impairment
As on Sawan 1, 20X0
Amortization charge for the Year
Impairment for the year
Disposals

Adjustment

As on Asar end 20X1
Amortization charge for the Year
Impairment for the year
Disposals

Adjustment

As on Asar end 20X2

Capital Work in Progress
Net Book Value

As on Asar end 20X0

As on Asar end 20X1

As on Asar end 20X2

Bank
- Software Total X(S);arl
Particulars Goodwill Purchased | Developed Other é—\g;a(rz end ond
20X1
Cost

As on Sawan 1, 20X0
Addition during the Year
Acquisition
Capitalization
Disposal during the year
Adjustment/Revaluation

Balance as on Asar end 20X1
Addition during the Year
Acquisition
Capitalization
Disposal during the year
Adjustment/Revluation

Balance as on Asar end 20X2

Amortization and Impairment
As on Sawan 1, 20X0
Amortization charge for the Year
Impairment for the year
Disposals

Adjustment

Ason Asar end 20X1
Amortization charge for the Year
Impairment for the year
Disposals

Adjustment

As on Asar end 20X2

Capital Work in Progress
Net Book Value

As on Asar end 20X0

As on Asar end 20X1
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As on Asar end 20X2 | |

Deferred Tax 4.15
Group Bank
Current Year Current Year
88% 885 3843 B8% 385 3842
Deferred tax on temporary differences on following items
Loan and Advance to B/Fls
Loans and advances to customers
Investment properties
Investment securities
Property & equipment
Employees' defined benefit plan
Lease liabilities
Provisions
Other temporary differences
Deferred tax on temporary differences
Deferred tax on carry forward of unused tax losses
Deferred tax due to changes in tax rate
Net Deferred tax asset/(liabilities) as on year end of ........
Deferred tax (asset)/liabilities as on sawan 1, ........
Origination/(Reversal) during the year
Deferred tax expense/(income) recognized in profit or loss
Deferred tax expense/(income) recognized in other comprehensive income
Deferred tax expense/(income) recognized in directly in equity
Previous Year Previous Year
° - 8 s = © - 28 3 =
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Deferred tax on temporary differences on following items

Loan and Advance to B/Fls

Loans and advances to customers

Investment properties
Investment securities
Property & equipment

Employees' defined benefit plan

Lease liabilities
Provisions

Other temporary differences

Deferred tax on temporary differences

Deferred tax on carry forward of unused tax losses
Deferred tax due to changes in tax rate

Net Deferred tax asset/(liabilities) as on year end of ........

Deferred tax (asset)/liabilities as on sawan 1, ........

Origination/(Reversal) during the year

Deferred tax expense/(income) recognized in profit or loss
Deferred tax expense/(income) recognized in other comprehensive income
Deferred tax expense/(income) recognized in directly in equity

Other assets

Assets held for sale

Other non banking assets

Bills receivable

Accounts receivable

Accrued income

Prepayments and deposit
Income tax deposit

Deferred employee expenditure
Other

4.16
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Total

90%



Due to Bank and Financial Institutions 4.17
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Money market deposits

Interbank borrowing

Other deposits from BFIs

Settlement  and  clearing

accounts

Other deposits from BFIs

Total

Due to Nepal Rastra Bank 4.18
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Refinance from NRB

Standing Liquidity Facility

Lender of last report facility from NRB

Securities sold under

repurchase agreements

Other payable to NRB

Total

Derivative financial

instruments 4.19
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Held for trading
Interest rate swap
Currency swap
Forward exchange contract
Others

Held for risk management
Interest rate swap
Currency swap
Forward exchange contract
Other

Total

103



Deposits from customers
Group

Bank

4.20

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Institutions customers:
Term deposits
Call deposits
Current deposits
Other

Individual customers:
Term deposits
Saving deposits
Current deposits
Other

Total

4.20.1: Currency wise analysis of deposit from customers

Group

Bank

Nepalese rupee
Indian rupee
United State dollar
Great Britain pound
Euro

Japenese yen
Chinese yuan

Other

Total

Borrowing
Group

Bank

4.21

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Domestic Borrowing

Nepal Government

Other Institutions

Other

Sub total

Foreign Borrowing

Foreign Bank and Financial
Institutions

Multilateral Development
Banks

q0%



Other Institutions

Sub total

Total

Provisions 4.22
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Provisions for redundancy

Provision for restructuring

Pending legal issues and tax

litigation

Onerous contracts

Other

4.21.1: Movement in provision
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Balance at Sawan 1

Provisions made during the

year

Provisions used during the

year

Provisions reversed during the

year

Unwind of discount

Balance at Asar end

Other liabilities 4.23
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Liability for employees defined benefit obligations

Liability for long-service
leave

Short-term employee benefits
Bills payable

Creditors and accruals

Interest payable on deposit
Interest payable on borrowing
Liabilities on deferred grant
income

Unpaid Dividend
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Liabilities under  Finance
Lease

Employee bonus payable
Other

Total

4.22.1: Defined benefit obligations
Group Bank

The amounts recognized in the statement of financial position are as follows:

Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Present value of unfunded
obligations
Present value of funded
obligations
Total present value of
obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Present  value of net
obligations
Recognized liability for defined benefit obligations
4.22.2: Plan assets
Group Bank
Plan assets comprise
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Equity securities
Government bonds
Bank deposit
Other
Total
Actual return on plan assets
4.22.3: Movement in the present value of defined benefit obligations
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Defined benefit obligations at Sawan 1
Actuarial losses
Benefits paid by the plan

10%



Current service costs and interest

Defined benefit obligations at Asar end

4.22.4: Movement in the fair value of plan assets

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Fair value of plan assets at Sawan 1
Contributions paid into the plan
Benefits paid during the year
Actuarial (losses) gains
Expected return on plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at Asar end
4.22.5: Amount recognized in profit or loss
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Current service costs
Interest on obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Total
4.22.6: Amount recognized in other comprehensive income
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Actuarial (gain)/loss
Total
4.22.7: Actuarial assumptions
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Discount rate
Expected return on plan asset
Future salary increase
Withdrawal rate
Debt securities issued 4.24
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
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Debt securities issued designated as at fair value through profit or loss
Debt securities issued at
amortized cost

Total
Subordinated Liabilities 4.25 4.25
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Redeemable preference shares
Irredeemable cumulative preference shares (liabilities component)
Other
Total
Share capital 4.26
Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Ordinary shares
Convertible preference shares (equity component only)
Irredeemable preference shares (equity component only)
Perpetual debt (equity
component only)
Total
4.25.1: Ordinary shares
Bank
Current Previous
Year Year

Authorized Capital
...................... Ordinary share of Rs.
100 each

Issued capital
...................... Ordinary share of Rs.

100 each

Subscribed and paid up

capital
...................... Ordinary share of Rs.

0%



4.25.2: Ordinary share ownership

Domestic ownership
Nepal Government
"A" class licensed institutions
Other licensed institutions
Other Institutions
Public
Other

Foreign ownership

Total

Reserves
Group

Bank

Current Year Previous Year

Percent Amount Percent Amount

4.27
Bank

Current
Year

Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year

Statutory general reserve
Exchange equalization reserve
Corporate social responsibility reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Regulatory reserve
Investment adjustment reserve
Capital reserve

Assets revaluation reserve
Fair value reserve

Dividend equalization reserve
Actuarial gain

Special reserve

Other reserve

Total

Contingent  liabilities and

commitments

Group

4.28

Bank

Current
Year

Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year

0%



Contingent liabilities

Undrawn and undisbursed facilities
Capital commitment

Lease Commitment

Litigation

Total

4.28.1: Contingent liabilities

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Acceptance and documentary credit
Bills for collection

Forward exchange contracts
Guarantees

Underwriting commitment

Other commitments

Total

4.28.2: Undrawn and undisbursed facilities

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Undisbursed amount of loans
Undrawn limits of overdrafts
Undrawn limits of credit cards
Undrawn limits of letter of credit
Undrawn limits of guarantee

Total

4.28.3: Capital commitments
Capital expenditure approved by relevant authority of the bank but provision has not been made
in financial statements

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Capital commitments in relation to Property and Equipment

Approved and contracted for
Approved but not contracted for

Sub total
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Capital commitments in relation to
Intangible assets

Approved and contracted for
Approved but not contracted for

Sub total

Total

4.28.4: Lease commitments

Group Bank
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Operating lease commitments

Future minimum lease payments under non cancellable operating lease, where the bank is

lessee
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Sub total

Finance lease commitments

Future minimum lease payments under non cancellable operating lease, where the bank is

lessee
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Sub total

Grand total

4.28.5: Litigation

Explanatory paragraphs are required for litigation contingent liabilities as per their own case of

each bank

Interest income 4.29
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Cash and cash equivalent

Due from Nepal Rastra Bank

Placement with bank and financial institutions

Loan and advances to bank and financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
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Investment securities
Loan and advances to staff
Other

Total interest income

Interest expense 4.30
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Due to bank and financial institutions

Due to Nepal Rastra Bank

Deposits from customers

Borrowing

Debt securities issued

Subordinated liabilities

Other

Total interest expense

Fees and Commission Income 4.31
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Loan administration fees
Service fees

Consortium fees
Commitment fees

DD/TT/Swift fees
Credit card/ATM issuance and
renewal fees

Prepayment and swap fees
Investment banking fees
Asset management fees
Brokerage fees
Remittance fees

Commission on letter of credit
Commission on guarantee contracts
issued

Commission on share
underwriting/issue

Locker rental

Other fees and commission income

Total fees and Commission
Income
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Fees and commission expense

Bank

Group

4.32

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

ATM management fees
VISA/Master card fees

Guarantee commission

Brokerage

DD/TT/Swift fees

Remittance fees and commission
Other fees and commission expense

Total fees and Commission
EXxpense

Net trading income

Bank

Group

4.33

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Changes in fair value of trading
assets

Gain/loss on disposal of trading
assets

Interest income on trading assets
Dividend income on trading assets
Gain/loss foreign exchange
transaction

Other

Net trading income

Other operating income

Bank

Group

4.34

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Foreign exchange revaluation gain
Gain/loss on sale of investment
securities

Fair value gain/loss on investment properties

Dividend on equity instruments
Gain/loss on sale of property and
equipment

Gain/loss on sale of investment
property

Operating lease income

Gain/loss on sale of gold and silver
Other

Total
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Impairment charge/(reversal) for loan and other

losses 4.35
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Impairment charge/(reversal) on loan and advances to B/Fls
Impairment charge/(reversal) on loan and advances to customer
Impairment charge/(reversal) on financial Investment
Impairment charge/(reversal) on placement with banks and financial institutions
Impairment charge/(reversal) on property and equipment
Impairment charge/(reversal) on goodwill and intangible assets
Impairment charge/(reversal) on investment properties
Total
Personnel Expense 4.36
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year
Salary
Allowances
Gratuity expense
Provident fund
Uniform
Training & development expense
Leave encashment
Medical
Insurance
Employees incentive
Cash-settled share-based payments
Pension expense
Finance expense under NFRSs
Other expenses related to staff
Subtotal
Employees bonus
Grand total
4.37
Other operating expense
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Directors' fee
Directors' expense

9%



Auditors' remuneration

Other audit related expense
Professional and legal expense
Office administration expense
Operating lease expense

Operating expense of investment

properties

Corporate  social  responsibility

expense

Onerous lease provisions

Other

Total

Depreciation & Amortization 4.38
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Depreciation on property and

equipment

Depreciation on investment property

Amortization of intangible assets

Total

Non operating income 4.39
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Recovery of loan written off

Other income

Total

Non operating expense 4.40
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Loan written off
Redundancy provision
Expense of restructuring
Other expense
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Total

Income tax expense 441
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Current tax expense

Current year

Adjustments for prior years

Deferred tax expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Changes in tax rate

Recognition of previously unrecognized tax losses

Total income tax expense

4.41.1: Reconciliation of tax expense and accounting profit
Bank Group
Current Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year

Profit before tax
Tax amount at tax rate of.......... %

Add: Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible for tax purpose

Less: Tax effect on exempt income
Add/less: Tax effect on other items

Total income tax expense

Effective tax rate

9%



Statement of distributable profit or loss
For the year ended ......Asar 20.......
(As per NRB Regulation)

Bank
Current Previous
Year Year

Net profit or (loss) as per statement of profit or loss
Appropriations:
a. General reserve
b. Foreign exchange fluctuation fund
c. Capital redemption reserve
d. Corporate social responsibility fund
e. Employees' training fund
f. Other

Profit or (loss) before regulatory adjustment

Requlatory adjustment :
a. Interest receivable (-)/previous accrued interest received (+)
b. Short loan loss provision in accounts (-)/reversal (+)
c. Short provision for possible losses on investment (-)/reversal (+)
d. Short loan loss provision on Non Banking Assets (-)/reversal (+)
e. Deferred tax assets recognized (-)/ reversal (+)
f. Goodwill recognized (-)/ impairment of Goodwill (+)
g. Bargain purchase gain recognized (-)/reversal (+)
h. Actuarial loss recognized (-)/reversal (+)
i. Other (+/-)

Distributable profit or (loss)
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5. Disclosure & Additional Information

5.1 | Risk management
Credit risk
Market risk
Liquidityrisk
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
5.2 | Capital management
Bank or Financial Instituion shall disclose following information in regard of capital
management:
(i) Qualitative disclosures
Summary information of objectives, policies and processes for managing
capital, terms and conditions of the main features of all capital instruments,
especially in the case of innovative, complex or hybrid capital instruments.
(i) Quantitative disclosures
1. Capital structure and capital adequacy

o Tier 1 capital and a breakdown of its components;

o Tier 2 capital and a breakdown of its components;

o Detailed information about the Subordinated Term Debts with
information on the outstanding amount, maturity, and amount raised
during the year and amount eligible to be reckoned as capital funds.

o Deductions from capitla;

o Total qualifying capitla;

o Capital adequacy ratio;

o Summary of the bank’s internal approach to assess the adequacy of its
capital to support current and future activities, if applicable; and

o Summary of the terms, conditions and main features of all capital
instruments, especially in case of subordinated term debts including
hybrid capital instruments.

2. Risk exposures

o Risk weighted exposures for Credit Risk, Market Risk and Operational
Risk;

o Risk Weighted Exposures under each of 11 categories of Credit Risk;

o Total risk weighted exposure calculation table;

o Amount of NPAs (both Gross and Net)

(iii) Compliance with external requirement
Whether during the period it complied with any externally imposed capital
requirements to which it is subject and the consequences of such non-
compliance in case the institution has not complied with those requirements.
5.3 | Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
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5.4 Operating Segment Information
1. General information

(a) Factors that management used to identify the entity’s reportable segments

(b) Description of the types of products and services from which each reportable
segment derives its revenues

2. Information about profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Particulars Reportable | Reportable | Reportable | ........ Al Total

Segment1l | Segment2 | Segment 3 Other

(a) | Revenues from external customers

(b) | Intersegment revenues

(c) | Net Revenue

(d) | Interest revenue

(e) | Interest expense

(f) | Net interest revenue(b)

(9) | Depreciation and amortisation

(h) | Segment profit /(loss)

Entity’s interest in the profit or
loss of associates accounted for
(i) | using equity method

(i) | Other material non-cash items:

(k) | Impairment of assets

() | Segment assets

(m) | Segment liabilities

An entity shall disclose the following about each reportable segment if the specified
amounts are included in the measure of segment assets reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker or are otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating decision
maker.

(@) Investment in associates accounted for by the equity method

(b) Amounts of additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments,
deferred tax assets, post-employment benefit assets and rights arising under
insurance contracts.

3. Measurement of operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities
(a) Basis of accounting for any transactions between reportable segments.

b) Nature of any differences between the measurements of the reportable segments’
y p g
profits or losses and the entity’s profit or loss before income tax.

(c) Nature of any differences between the measurements of the reportable segments’
assets and the entity’s asset.

9%



4.

(d) Nature of any changes from prior periods in the measurement methods used to

determine reported segment profit or loss and the effect, if any, and
(e) Nature and effect of any asymmetrical allocations to reportable segments.

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities
(@ Revenue
Total revenues for reportable segments XXXX
Other revenues XXXX
Elimination of intersegment revenues (Xxxx)
Entity’s revenues XXXX
(b) Profit or loss
Total profit or loss for reportable segments XXXX
Other profit or loss XXXX
Elimination of intersegment profits (XXXX)
Unallocated amounts:
............ XXXX
............ (XxxXx)
Profit before income tax XXXX
(c) Assets
Total assets for reportable segments XXXX
Other assets XXXX
Unallocated amounts (XXxX)
Entity’s assets XXXX
(d) Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments XXXX
Other liabilities XXXX
Unallocated liabilities (XxxXx)
Entity’s liabilities XXXX
Information about products and services
Revenue from each type of product and services described in point no. 1(b) above
@ | e XXXX
() | i XXXX
(c) ............... XXXX

Information about geographical areas

Revenue from following geographical areas
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(a) | Domestic XXXX
Province 1 XXXX
Province 2 XXXX
Province 3 XXXX
Province 4 XXXX
Province 5 XXXX
Province 6 XXXX
Province 7 XXXX

(b) | Foreign XXXX

Total XXXX
7. Information about major customers

Information about the extent of its reliance on its major customers, if revenue
from a single external customer amounts to 10 percent or more of the entity’s

revenue.
Particular Revenue | Segment
Customer 1* XXXX Segment 1
Customer 2* XXXX Segment 3
......... XXXX Segment 2
Total XXXX

* The entity does not need to disclose the name of the customer

5.5 | Share options and share based payment

5.6 | Contingent liabilities and commitment

5.7 | Related parties disclosures

5.8 | Merger and acquisition

5.9 | Additional disclosures of non consolidated entities
5.10 | Events after reporting date.

5.11 Disclosure effect of transition from previous GAAP to NFRSs

1. Reconciliation of equity

Total equity under Previous GAAP
Adjustments under NFRSs:
Impairment on loan and advances

Explanato
ry Note *

As at As at
01.04.2073 31.03.2074
(End of last
(Date ~ of  period presented
Transition) under previous

GAAP)

Fair value & employees benefit accounting of staff loan
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Lease accounting

Measurement of investment securities at fair value
Revaluation of property & equipment

Recognition of investment property

Amortisation of debt securities issued

Deferred tax

Defined benefit obligation of employees
Goodwill/Bargain purchase gain

Interest income

Other

Total Adjustment to equity

Total Equity under NFRSs

* Explanatory note is required for each line item presented in adjustment on which

transition effect has been arisen

2. Reconciliation of profit or loss

Explanatory
Note*

For the year ended
31.03.2074

(the latest period presented
under previous GAAP)

Previous GAAP

Adjustments under NFRSs:
Interest income
Impairment of loan and advances
Employees benefit amortisation under staff loan
Defined benefit obligation of employee
Operating lease expense
Amortisation expense of debt securities
Other operating income
Interest expense
Depreciation & Amortisation
Other

Total Adjustment to profit or loss

Profit or loss under NFRSs
Other Comprehensive Income

Profit/(Loss) for the year

Total Comprehensive income under NFRSs
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* Explanatory note is required for each line item presented in adjustment on which

transition effect has been arisen

3. Effect of NFRSs adoption for the statement of financial position

NFRSs

As at 31.03.2074
(End of last period
As at 01.04.2073 presented under previous
(Date of Transition) GAAP)
% X @ S 5 A ° 3 % E -5 @ =] :18-
Particulars 8§85 22 g%l > E£B 22 S3GE 3
22 3% 85z £fg8cs 23 EFsEz 8
x> - = =g CU)%C'*: “<r~ - ~ o € .,
uw < a O W = 8_Eggg o€ Oolk & <®
Assets

Cash and cash equivalent
Due from Nepal Rastra Bank

Placement with Bank and Financial Institutions

Derivative financial instruments
Other trading assets

Loan and advances to B/FIs
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities

Current tax assets

Investment in susidiaries
Investment in associates
Investment property

Property and equipment
Goodwill and Intangible assets
Deferred tax assets

Other assets

Total Assets

Liabilities

Due to Bank and Financial Instituions
Due to Nepal Rastra

Bank

Derivative financial instruments
Deposits from customers
Borrowing

Current Tax Liabilities
Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

Other liabilities

Debt securities issued

13



Subordinated Liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Share capital
Share premium
Retained earnings
Reserves

Total equity attributable to equity holders
Non-controlling interest

Total equity -
Total liabilities and
equity

* Explanatory note is required for each line item which has been impacted by transition

4. Effect of NFRSs adoption for statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

9 For the year ended 31.03.2074
> (the latest period presented under
> previous GAAP)
=] = o O -
_ g 2. =24 28,
Particulars ‘_g_ s } 5 % L 3 &
X et = o LL e o L
n a o W cZ <a=z

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Net interest, fee and commission income

Net trading income
Other operating income
Total operating income

Impairment charge/(reversal) for loans
and other losses

Net operating income
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Operating expense
Personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Depreciation & Amortisation
Operating Profit
Non operating income
Non operating expense
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Current Tax

Deferred Tax
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total Comprehensive

* Explanatory note is required for each line item presented in adjustment on which
transition effect has been arisen

5. Effect of NFRSs adoption for statement of cash flows

For the vyear ended 31.03.2074
(the latest period presented under

> previous GAAP)

@]

© Previou Effect  of Amount
Particulars ‘_g_ *?B s GAAP Transition as  per

52 to NFRSs NFRSs

Net cash flows from operating activities
Net cash flows from investing activities
Net cash flows from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the period

* Explanatory note is required for each line item

Format for Interim Financial Reporting

Name of the Infrastructure Development Bank
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Unaudited Financial Results (Quarterly)
......... Quarter ended of Fiscal Year 20...../20.....

Rs. in '000'

Statement of Financial Position

Assets

This Quarter
Ending

Previous
Quarter Ending

Corresponding
Previous  Quarter
Ending

Cash and cash equivalent

Due from NRB and placements with BFIs
Loan and advances

Investments Securities

Investment in subsidiaries and associates
Goodwill and intangible assets

Other assets

Total Assets

Capital and Liabilities

Paid up Capital

Reserves and surplus

Deposits

Borrowings

Bond and Debenture

Other liabilities and provisions

Total Capital and Liabilities

Statement of Profit or Loss

Up to this
Quarter

Up to Previous
Quiarter

Up to
Corrosponding
Previous Year
Quarter

Interest income

Interest expense
Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income

Other operating income
Total operating income

Impairment charge/(reversal) for loans and other
losses
Net operating income

Personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Operating profit

Non operating income/expense
Profit before tax
Income tax
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Profit /(loss) for the period

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Distributable Profit

Net profit/(loss) as per profit or loss

Add/Less: Regulatory adjustment as per NRB
Directive

Profit/(loss) after regulatory adjustments

Ratios

Capital fund to RWA

Nonperforming loan (NPL) to al loan (As per NRB Directive)
Total loan loss provision to Total NPL (As per NRB Directive)
Cost of Funds

Credit to Deposit Ratio ( As per NRB Directive)

Base Rate

Basic Earnings Per Share

Diluted Earnings Per Share

Segmental Reporting

The reportable segment of each bank may differ from the other; the commercial banks should publish the segmental

reporting as per the requirement of NFRSs in their own format.

Name of the Bank or Financial Institution

Comparison Unaudited and Audited Financial Statements as of FY ....... [eeeraenns
Rs. in
‘000"
Statement of Financial Position As  per | As — per | Variance Reasons
unaudited Audited 0 for
Financial Financial In In % Variance
t
Assets Statement Statement amoun

Cash and cash equivalent

Due from NRB and placements with BFIs
Loan and advances

Investments Securities

Investment in subsidiaris and associates
Goodwill and intangible assets

Other assets

Total Assets

Capital and Liabilities
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Paid up Capital

Reserves and surplus

Deposits

Borrowings

Bond and Debenture

Other liabilities and provisions

Total Capital and Liabilities

Statement of Profit or Loss

Interest income

Interest expense
Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense
Net fee and commission income

Other operating income
Total operaing income

Impairment charge/(reversal) for loans and
other losses

Net operating income

Personnel expenses
Other operating expenses
Operating profit

Non operating income/expense
Profit before tax

Income tax

Profit /(loss) for the period

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Distributable Profit

Net profit/(loss) as per profit or loss

Add/Less: Regulatory adjustment as per
NRB Directive
Profit/(loss) after regulatory adjustments

Brief explanations on accounts head of the Statement of Financial Position

Assets Side
1. Cash and cash equivalent
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This account shall be used for presenting the total amount of cash-in-hand, balances with
other bank and financial institutions, money at call and short notice, and highly liquid
financial assets with original maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date
that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the
licensed institution in the management of its short term commitments.

Due from Nepal Rastra Bank

Statutory balances held with Nepal Rastra Bank for compulsory cash reserve, securities
purchased from Nepal Rastra Bank under resale agreement and other deposits with and
receivables from Nepal Rastra Bank shall be presented under this account head.

Placement with bank and financial institutions

Placements with domestic as well as foreign bank and financial institutions with original
maturities of more than three months from the acquisition date are presented under this
account head

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative instruments like interest rate swap, currency swap, forward foreign exchange
contract etc. held for trading as well as risk management purposes shall be presented
under this head.

Other trading assets

Trading assets are those assets that the licensed institution acquires principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term, or holds as part of a portfolio that is managed together
for short-term profit shall be presented under this account head. The other trading asset
includes non derivative financial assets. It includes Government bonds, NRB Bonds,
Domestic Corporate bonds, Treasury bills, Equities etc held primarily for the trading
purpose.

Loan and advances to bank and financial institutions

Loan and advances given to bank and financial institutions shall be presented under this
head. Specific impairment on loan and advance to bank and financial institutions shall be
deducted.

Loan and advances to customers.

Under this head, sum of the outstanding amount of all loans and advances extended to the
customers other than BFIs as well as bills purchased and discounted less the amount of
impairment allowances shall be presented. Loan to employees provided according to the
Employees Bylaws of the licensed institution shall also be presented under this head.

Investments securities

Investments made by the licensed institutions in financial instruments shall be presented
under this account head in three categories i.e. investment securities designated at fair
value through profit or loss, investment securities measured at amortized cost and
investment in equity measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Investment other than those measured at amortized cost shall be measure at fair value and
changes in fair value shall be recognized in profit or loss, or other comprehensive income
as per the business model adopted by the infrastructure developmentbank for the specific
securities. Where income from the investment is received in the form of bonus shares, the
valuation of investment shall be made by increasing the number of shares only without
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10.

11.

12.

changing in the cost of investment. The financial institutions shall disclose following
particulars in respect of investment in shares and debenture/bond.

a. Following particulars shall clearly be disclosed in respect of investment in shares of
other companies
(1) Name of the company

(2) Type of share (ordinary or preference), in case of preference shares, including
the rate of dividend.

(3) Total number of shares subscribed (including bonus shares if received).
(4) Face value per share

(5) The cost price to licensed institution.

(6) Fair value of the shares at the end of the fiscal year.

(7) Where a company, in which the licensed institution has investment in shares, has
not declared dividend for previous 3 years, particulars indicating the same.

b. Following particulars shall clearly be disclosed in respect of investment in debentures
and bonds of other companies

(1) Name of the company

(2) Rate of Interest

(3) Installment of Debenture/bond subscribed.

(4) Face value per debenture/bond.

(5) Maturity date of debenture/bond

(6) The purchase price of the debentures/bond

(7) Fair value of the debentures/bond measured at fair value

The infrastructure developmentbank shall recognize impairment loss if any on the
investment instruments measured at amortized cost. The calculation of impairment loss
shall be as per requirement of NFRSs.

The infrastructure developmentbank shall recognize, measure, present and disclose the
investment instruments as per the requirement of NFRSs.

Current tax assets

This will include any advance payment made by the licensed institution towards income
tax liabilities or other tax liabilities to the taxing authorities.

Investment in Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are the entities that are controlled by the bank. Investment made by the bank
in its subsidiaries shall be presented in this head under separate financial statements.
Since, the investment amount is eliminated in consolidation process, no amount shall be
presented under group financial statements.

Investment in Associates

Associates are those entities in which the bank has significant influence but not control
over the financial and operating policies. Investment made by the bank in its associates
shall be presented in this head under this account head.

Investment properties
930



13.

14.

15.

16.

Land or land and building other than those classified as property and equipment; and non
current assets held for sale under relevant accounting standard shall be presented under
this account head. This shall include land, land and building acquired as non banking
assets by the Bank but not sold.

Property and equipment

All assets of long-term nature (fixed) like land, building, IT equipment, fixtures and
fittings, office equipment and appliances, vehicles, machinery, leasehold developments
and capital work in progress owned by the licensed institution shall be presented under
this head.

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill and intangible assets like computer software both purchased and internally
generated, trade mark etc. shall be presented under this account head.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets recognized as per NFRSs on temporary deductible differences, carry
forward of unused tax losses, changes in tax rate etc. shall be presented under this account
head.

Other Assets

This account will include any other tangible or intangible asset not mentioned above.
Assets held for sale, non banking assets (other than land or land and building), restricted
deposits with central banks, accounts receivable, interest receivable, accrued income,
prepayments and deposit are some of the items to be included under this head.

Liabilities and Equity side

1.

Due to bank and financial institutions

The balances in accounts maintained with the institution by other local and foreign banks
and financial institution shall be presented under this head. Interbank borrowing,
interbank deposit, balances on settlement and clearing accounts as well as other amount
due to bank and financial institution shall be presented under this account head.

Due to Nepal Rastra Bank

This account head shall also contain the amount of payable to Nepal Rastra Bank.
Amount payable to NRB shall include amount of refinance facilities, standing liquidity
facility, lender of last resort, sale and repurchase agreements, deposit from NRB etc.

Derivative financial instruments

It includes all derivative liabilities. Derivative instruments like interest rate swap,
currency swap, forward foreign exchange contract etc. held for trading as well as risk
management purposes shall be presented under this head.

Deposits from customers
All deposit accounts other than deposit from BFIs (local and foreign) and NRB shall be
presented under this account head.

Borrowing
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All domestic as well as foreign borrowing other than interbank borrowing and borrowing
from Nepal Rastra Bank shall be presented under this heading. It includes borrowing from
Nepal Government, borrowing from other domestic institutions, borrowing from foreign
bank and financial institutions, multilateral development banks etc.

Current Tax Liabilities

The liabilities recognized for the purpose of current income tax, including fees, penalties
shall be included under this head.

Provisions

A provision is recognized when as a result of a past event, the licensed institution has a
present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provision
for redundancy, provision for onerous contracts, provision for restructuring, pending legal
issues and tax litigation, credit commitments and guarantees etc. shall be presented under
this account head. Followings are the additional clarification on accounts presented under
this account head.

(a) Provision for Redundancy

It shall include benefits payable as a result of employment being terminated or based
on a dismissal plan of the licensed institution. Provision for employees' termination
benefits like voluntary retirement scheme shall be presented under this account head.

(b) Provision for restructuring

Restructuring includes sale or termination of a line of business, closure of business
locations or relocation in a region, changes in management structure, fundamental
reorganizations that have a material effect on the nature and focus of the bank’s
operations etc. The provision of restructuring that is recognized as per the requirement
of NFRSs shall be presented under this account head

(c) Pending legal issues and tax litigation

Provisions recognized for any pending legal issues and tax litigation matters shall be
presented under this account head.

(d) Onerous contracts

Provision for onerous contract is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived
by the licensed institution from a contract is lower than the unavoidable cost of
meeting its obligation under the contract. The provision amount that is recognized for
onerous contract as per NFRSs shall be presented under this heading.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are the amounts of income taxes payable in future periods in
respect of taxable temporary differences, shall be included under this head. Deferred tax
liabilities that are recognised as per requirement of NFRSs shall be presented under this
account head.

Other liabilities

Any residual liabilities not captured above, shall be presented under an appropriate head
in this account. Liabilities relating to employees benefits like liabilities for defined benefit
obligation gratuity and pension fund, liabilities for long-service leave, cash settled share
based payment liabilities, short-term employee benefits etc., Creditors and accruals,
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Interest payable on deposit and borrowing, unearned income, unpaid dividend etc. shall
be presented under this account head.

Debt securities issued
Debenture, bond or other debt securities issued by bank shall be presented under this
broad account head.

Subordinated Liabilities

Liabilities subordinated, at the event of winding up, to the claims of depositors, debt
securities issued and other creditors shall be included here. It shall include redeemable
preference share, subordinated notes issued, borrowingsetc.

Share capital

The amount of paid up share capital of the licensed institution shall be mentioned under
this head. Amount credited in share capital by issuing bonus shares utilizing the
accumulated profit and reserves shall also be disclosed under this heading. This shall
include paid up amount of ordinary share capital and equity component of preference
share capital. The convertible preference shares which includes an option for the holder of
the shares to convert the preferred shares into a fixed number of ordinary shares at any
time after a predetermined date, irredeemable preference share and perpetual debt
instruments, the equity component that is recognized and measured as per NFRSs as
equity as well shall be presented under this heading.

Share premium

The amount of money collected on issue of shares in excess of its face value shall be
presented under this heading. The outstanding amount in this account shall not be
considered eligible for distribution of cash dividend.

Retained earnings

The accumulated profits which has not been distributed to shareholders and has been
ploughed back in the licensed institution’s operations and is free for distribution of
dividend to the shareholders shall be presented under this heading.

Reserves

Licensed institution shall include the amounts received from allocation of profits or
retained earnings in connection with maintaining reserves or created from any other
process. Normally, amount shall be credited to this heading having debited the
accumulated profit and while using these reserves, the concerned reserve account shall
have to be debited. Followings are the additional clarification of account head under
reserve.

(a) General Reserve:

General reserve is the statutory reserve. In this reserve, the amount transformed
from appropriation of net profit according to the Banks and Financial Institutions
Act, 2073 shall be included. No type of dividend (cash or bonus share) shall be
distributed from the amount in general/statutory reserve. Approval of NRB shall be
required in order to use the amount in this reserve.

(b) Exchange Equalization reserve
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(©)

Exchange equalization reserve is a statutory reserve. A bank which has earned
foreign exchange revaluation gain on foreign currency other than India currency has
to allocate 25 percent of such revaluation gain to this reserve as per provision of the
Bank and Financial Institution Act. Any amount allocated to exchange equalization
reserve as per the provision of the Bank and Financial Institutions Act, shall be
presented under this heading.

Fair Value Reserves

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of
financial assets that are measured at fair value and the changes in fair value is
recognized in other comprehensive income, until the assets are derecognized. The
cumulative amount of changes in fair value of those financial assets shall be
presented under this account head.

(d)Assets Revaluation Reserve

Any reserve created from revaluation of assets (such as Property & Equipment,
Intangible Assets, Investment Property) shall be presented under this heading.
Revaluation reserves often serve as a cushion against unexpected losses but may not
be fully available to absorb unexpected losses due to the subsequent deterioration in
market values and tax consequences of revaluation.

(e) Capital Reserve

(f)

The capital reserve represents the amount of those reserves which are in nature of
capital and which shall not be available for distribution of cash dividend. The
amount from share forfeiture due to non-payment of remaining amount for the
unpaid shares, capital grants received in cash or kind, capital reserve arising out of
merger and acquisition etc should be presented under this heading.

Special Reserve

Any special reserve that is created as per the specific requirement of NRB directive
or special instruction of NRB shall represent special reserve. The amount allocated
to this reserve by debiting retained earning account shall be presented under this
heading.

(g) Capital Redemption Reserve

This head shall include the statutory reserve created for making payment towards
Redeemable Non-Convertible Preference Shares.

(h) Dividend Equalization Fund

(i)

()

For the purpose of maintaining uniformity in dividend payment, certain amount of
profit during the year of profit making may be transferred shall be presented under
this account head. Dividend may be distributed by debiting this account with the
approval of the Board of Directors and endorsed by the General meeting.

Capital Adjustment/Equalization Fund

Any amount that is allocated from the amount retained profit to a reserve that is
created for the raising capital of the Bank as well as calls is advance amount to
make up minimum paid up capital amount shall be presented under this account
head.

Corporate Social Responsibility Fund
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The fund created for the purpose of corporate social responsibility by allocating
profit shall be presented under this account head.

(k) Investment Adjustment Reserve

It is a regulatory reserve created as a cushion for adverse price movements in bank'’s
investments as directed by the Directives of Nepal Rastra Bank.

() Actuarial Gain/Loss Reserve

Actuarial gain or loss that represents change in actuarial assumptions used to value
employee obligations shall be presented under this account head.

(m) Regulatory Reserve

The amount that is allocated from profit or retained earnings of the Bank to this
reserve as per the Directive of NRB for the purpose of implementation of NFRSs
and which shall not be regarded as free for distribution of dividend (cash as well as
bonus shares) shall be presented under this account head. The amount allocated to
this reserve shall include interest income recognized but not received in cash,
difference of loan loss provision as per NRB directive and impairment on loan and
advance as per NFRSs (in case lower impairment is recognized under NFRSS),
amount equals to deferred tax assets, actual loss recognized in other comprehensive
income, amount of goodwill recognized under NFRSs etc.

(n) Other Reserve Fund

Any reserve created with specific or non-specific purpose (except stated in above)
shall be presented under this by disclosing accounting heads.

16. Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interest (NCI) is the portion of equity ownership in a subsidiary not
attributable to the parent company, which has a controlling interest and consolidates the
subsidiary's financial results with its own. The bank who has a subsidiary and
consolidates the financial statement of subsidiary in its own shall present the equity
portion of the subsidiary that are attributable to the shareholders other than the bank under
this account head.

Brief Explanations on Accounting Heads of the Statement of Profit or Loss Account

1.

Interest income

The interest income recognized as per NFRSs shall be presented under this head. This
heading shall include interest income on loan and advance, investment securities except
on those investment securities measure at fair value through profit or loss, cash and and
cash equivalent, due from Nepal Rastra Bank, due from BFIs, loan and advances to staff
etc.

Interest expense

The interest expenses recognized as per NFRSs shall be presented under this head. The
interest accrued on deposits collected, debt securities issued, borrowings obtained,
subordinated liabilities, amount due to bank and financial institutions, due to NRB etc.
shall be presented under this heading.

Fees and commission income
Fee income is earned for diverse ranges of services provided by the bank to its customers.
Fee income arises on the execution of a significant act completed or from provision of
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services like asset management, portfolio management, management advisory and service
fees etc. Loan documentation fee, loan management fee, consortium fee, commitment fee,
card issuance and renewal fees, prepayment and swap fee, remittance fee, investment
banking fee, asset management fee, brokerage, commission on letter of credit,
commission on guarantee, locker rental income, etc. should be presented under this
heading. The fees and commission income that are integral to the effective interest rate on
the financial assets are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate and shall
not be recognized as income, however immaterial amount can be recognized in profit or
loss account as income.

Fees and commission expense

Payouts on account of fee and commission for services obtained by the bank shall be
presented under this account head. This account head shall include card related fees,
guarantee commission, brokerage expenses etc. The fees and commission expense that
are integral to the effective interest rate on the financial liability are included in the
measurement of the effective interest rate and shall not be recognized as expense

Net trading income

Trading income comprises gains less losses relating to trading assets and liabilities, and
includes all realized interest, dividend and foreign exchange differences as well as
unrealized changes in fair value of trading assets and liabilities shall be presented under
this account head.

Other operating income

Receipt of all other operating income not specifically provided under the income heads
above shall be booked and presented under this head. This shall include foreign exchange
revaluation gain, gain/loss on sale of available for sale securities, dividend on available
for sale securities, gain/loss on sale of property and equipment, gain/loss on sale of
investment properties, operating lease income, gain/loss on sale of gold and silver,
finance income of finance lease etc.

Impairment charge/(reversal) for loan and other losses.

Impairment loss recognized as per NFRSs on loan and other losses shall be presented
under this account head. It shall includes impairment charge/reversal on loan and
advances to customers, loan and advances to bank and financial institutions, investment
securities, placement with bank and financial institutions, property and equipment,
goodwill and intangible assets, investment properties etc.

Personnel expenses

All expenses related to employees of a bank shall be included under this head. Expenses
covered under this head include employees' salary, allowances, pension, gratuity,
contribution to provident fund, training expenses, uniform expenses, insurance, staff
bonus, finance expense under NFRSs, cash-settled share-based payments etc.

Other Operating expenses

All operating expense other than those relating to personnel expense are recognized and
presented under this account head. The expenses covered under this account head shall
include office administration expense, other operating and overhead expense, directors'
emoluments, remuneration and non audit fee paid to auditors, professional and legal
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10.

11.

12.

expense, branch closure cost expense, redundancy cost expense, expense of restructuring,
impairment of non financial assets, expense of corporate social responsibility, onerous
lease provisions etc.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its
useful life. Amortization is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an
intangible asset over its useful life.Depreciation measured and recognized as per NFRSs
on property and equipment, and investment properties, and amortization of intangible
assets shall be presented under this account head.

Non operating income/expense

The income and expenses that have no direct relationship with the operation of
transactions shall be presented under this head. The income/expense covered under this
account head shall include loan written off, recovery of loan, redundancy provision,
expense of restructuring etc.

Income tax expense

The amount of income tax on net taxable profit shall be recognized and presented under
this account head. This account head shall include current tax expense and deferred tax
expense/deferred tax income.

Brief Explanations on Accounting Heads of the Statement of Other Comprehensive
Income

1.

Fair value reserve relating to investment in equity instruments

Net changes in fair value of equity instrument that are measured at fair value and the
changes in fair value is required to be recognized in other comprehensive income shall be
recognized and presented under this account head. The changes may be subsequently
reclassified to profit and loss in accordance with the relevant NFRSs shall also be
deducted from the fair value reserve.

Changes in revaluation reserve
Changes in revalued amount of property and equipment, and intangible assets shall be
presented under this account head.

Cash flow hedge

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in
cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or
a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the effective portion
of changes in the fair value (losses) of the derivative is recognised and presented in Other
comprehensive income under this account head. The changes may be subsequently
reclassified to profit and loss in accordance with the relevant NFRSs shall also be
deducted from the fair value reserve.

Net actuarial gain/loss on defined benefit plans

Re-measurement gain/losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur, directly in other
comprehensive income and shall be presented under this account head.
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5. Income tax relating to these items
The income tax relating to the items shown in other comprehensive income shall be
presented under this head.
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Threshold Transaction Report (TTR)

Name and address of Account
the person holding Branch Date  of | Nature of Type and Amount | Source Remarks
account  (including Transaction | Transaction No Involved | of Fund
legal) '
Name:
Signature

(Compliance Officer or Authorized Officer)

Name

Designation :

Phone
Email
Fax
Date

L&
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Suspicious Transaction Report (STR)

A. Reporting Institution :
Name of the Institution/Branch:

1.

B. Details of Customer :
a. Name of the Main account holder/s/customer:
b. Related Party/ies:

1.

a. Permanent Address:
b. Present Address:

Profession (As per KYC):

Nationality:

Other account(s) number (if any):

Other business (if nay):

o

®o0 o

Citizen  No./PP  No./  other
No./Regd.No.

Issue Date and Place

Issuing Agency/Authority

Father' Name

Mother’s Name

Spouse Name

Grand Father
Chairman/MD/Proprietor

Date of birth (Natural Person)/
Date of establishment(Legal Person):

C. Details of Customer :

1.

2

3.

Account Number

Nature of the account
(Current/savings/loan/other, pls. specify)

Nature of Ownership: (Individual/proprietorship ‘

o

o|o

olo|o|w

RE




[Partnership/company/other, pls. specify)

4. Names of Prop./Directors/ Partners etc. \
5. Date of A/C opening |
6  Other account(s) number (Related Parties): 1.
2.
3.
D. Transaction
a. Transaction Details (Accountwise
Account No. Year | Total Total Dr. | Total Trans. | Total Cr. | Closing
Trans. No. | Amount No. Amount Balance

Total upto now

Please fill the transaction from opening to present date, Total of Dr. & Cr. (No. &

Amount) exclude returned cheques/reverse entries/any other correcting items.

b. Details of Top 10 deposites (Last One Year)

S.No. | Date | Cheque/VVoucher No. Depositor Amount Remarks
c. Details of Top 10 withdrawals (Last One Year)
S.No. | Date | Cheque/VVoucher No. Payee Amount Remarks

d. Details of Loan and any other business and tranasactions with BFI

e. Person and Transaction Tree or Map

D. Reasons for considering the transaction(s) as unusual/suspicious?

e Summary of suspicious activities

e Analysis or Examination
Possible Linkage

E. Suspicious Activity Information/Typology:

Summarize characterization of suspicious activity/please specify the typologies (As per Act and
FAFG Guideline):

a. | | Corruption/Gratuity e. [ | False statement

b. DCheque fraud f. D

debit/credit or
card fraud

h. [ ] Structuring

other i. D

Mysterious
Disappearance/behavior

R4z



c. | | Tax evasion g. | | Identity Theft j. [ ] Counterfeit instrument

d. [ ] Loan fraud h. [ ] Terrorist Financing k. || Misuse of Position or Self

Others (Please Specify): ...t e

F. Has the Bank/FI taken any action in this context? Give details.

Signature (Compliance Officer or Authorized Officer) :

Name :
Designation: Date:
Phone : Email: Fax:

RES
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